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Saving the life of a High Value Target (HVT) (b))
Against this backdrop the Counter-terrorism

Center (CTC) Rendition Group (RG, later Rendition and Detention Group, or RDG)
came to the OMS front office late Fnday morning, March 29, to say that very early the
previous morning (March 28 ), senior al-Qa’ida leader Abu Zubaydah (“AZ”) had been
captured in Faisalabad, Pakistan. Zubaydah was thought to rank third or fourth in the al- ;
Qa’ida hierarchy, to have been “involved in every ma,}or [al-Qa’ida] terrorist operation,”
: and to have information on immediate future threats."! Anticipating his capture, a
(b)(1) ) rendition aircraft already was standing byzwﬂh an OMS'PA on board. For the
(b)(3) NatSecAct first time, the Agency was to retain custody of a terrorist, an_g@ was to be taken to an
Agency facility where he could be questioned by Agency(and F; ‘%“nterrogators
However, Zubaydah had been wounded during capture and would'need sophisticated

(b)(3) ClAAct medical care.'> Could OMS handle an emergency surgical Tnission? “OMS said yes, and

(b)(6) began to line up the requisite personnel and equ1pﬁent ) 4
(b)(1) By noon, DRG was back to say that Zubaydah was¥o-be flown to
(b)(3) NatSecAct. where a holding cell was
hurriedly being set up| |
(b)(1) - A plan was quickly worked out for our| RMO;(then on temporary
assignment toflyl  land join the rendition'crew. As soon as
(b)(3) NatSecAct Zubaydah could be moved, this group wou]d plck him up, an and fly A larger

medical team, composed of-a trauma surgeq «anesthetlst, :and two PA’s, along with other

(b)(1) CTC personnel and necessary medical and st glcal equlpment would leave Washington
(b)(3) NatSecAct that evening to receive AZ| (b)(1)  with just 5 hours to assemble staff and equipment
before departure. (b)( ) 3) NatSecAct

Ou pif&térted surgediitza clear 'contractor long associated with OMS’ﬁ
(E)(;) CIAAGt | He agreed to
(b)( 3) NatS c Act drive directly back and to recruitL \anesthetlst The two
(0)(3) NatSecACt sejected pATs included one visitingfHeadquarters| |
(b)) ‘ ‘and a surgically experienced recent hire

Field Operatx g and Nursing staffs quickly assembled the necessary
equipment by stnppmg the;OMS emergency room and obtaining the donation of surgical
equipment—no quesfiois asked—from| Hospltals Absent time to (b)(1)
» : (b)(3)
NatSecAct

" In a brief to the Department of Justice a few months later, AZ was described as al-Qa’ida’s coordinator
of external contacts and foreign communications, its counterintelligence officer, and to have been involved
to some extent in Millennium plots agamst U.S. and Israeli targets, and a 2001 Paris Embassy plot, as well
as the September 11 attacks.
'2J.S. military medical facilities were not considered an option as the resulting public exposure would
eatly reduce AZ’s value as an intelligence source
3 Regional coverage during this period was a challenge; r(b)('] )
(b)(3) NatSecAct

sop-secrer// (P)1) NOEORN
H (b)(3) NatSecAct L‘

Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727



Case 18-2265, Document 55-4, 11/14/2018, 2434171, Page2 of 52
JA-264

06541727 Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727 .

(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct \

return home, the PAs went to a local mall to buy suitcases and clothes. \
‘who joined the team at the airport
where the senior PA took him to phone booth and had him sign a secrecy agreement.
Twenty-four hours later the team was setting up at ?

NatSecAc‘F

)
) CIAAct
)
)

AZ had been shot from the ground while attempting to escape along a rooftop.
. Initially reported to have been hit three times, his wounds were the result of a single
bullet which entered his left leg anteriorly just above the knee, passed deeply through
muscle tissue and exited anteriorly in the upper thigh, then reenteréd the lower abdomen.
Fragments ended up embedded in the posterior abdominal wall. surgeoi(D)(1)
done an exploratory laparotomy, repaired some bowel damag’é?administered seve(b)(3) NatSecAct
of blood, and left behind the less accessible fragments; t{}leég wounds received only
superficial attention. . "

~,

-, <
(b)(1) OnMarch|  |an FBI EMT present for the Zubaygah takedown a@sed that

(0)(3) NatSecAct although AZ remained “septic” in appearancesfis-vital signs waz?imﬂiﬂand he was
(b)

“stable for travel.”| 'RMO joined the team and the
rendition flight immediately departed| | AZ was collect (1) \
(b)1) - land the flight continued| (b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct | , . , ‘ |
\ | During the:flight AZ was agitated, and his breathing
somewhat labored, so small doses of Valiim we; -'a@xfni;nisteged to allow him to rest.
Having safely delivered AZ to the Ka‘cility;‘thgi (b)(1)RMO then continued
(b)(1) on with the rendition team| ~ [then back to his p’bst.(b)(3 ) NatSecAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct )

On evaluation at _|AZ was found to have a small entrance wound in his
~ lower thigh, a large, fist-sized .exiiZWQunQ In his groin, and a recently sutured xyphoid-to-
pubis laparatomysWwith abdominal drain. Of most immediate concern was his labored
’ breathing and a developing fever. Despite adjustments to his antibiotic coverage, AZ’s
, condi_tjé&geteriorated ox@he néxf36-hours to a full-blown Acute Respiratory Distress
Syndrome. (ARDS), accompanied by a racing pulse, falling blood pressure, fever of

(b)(1) " 104°F, and e\y‘%uating bowels. An emergency intubation was performed, and while

b)(3) NatSecAct being manually’Ventilated AZ was transported to the intensive care unit

(b)(3) NatSecAc At the hogpital, AZ was placed on a respirator, and(P)(1)™ sureeon
@mn the team.* % & (b)(3) NatSecAct

On April 1%, about the time of AZ’s ARDS crisis, the White House announced his
capture, including the fact that he was receiving medical care for gunshot wounds in the
“thigh,” “groin” and “stomach.” By April 2", there was extensive press coverage,
informed by official Pentagon news conferences and alleged inside sources. Questions
were raised about where and how AZ was being treated. Defense Secretary Rumsfeld—

1 /q (b)(1) ‘nulmonologist also was summoned, but offered only a limited-value, one-time consult.
(b)(3) NatSecAct :

7

sep—gecrer/ / (P)(1) NOEORN
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presumably unaware of recent events-—informed reporters that AZ’s “wounds appear not
to be life threaterling” and that he was “being given exactly the excellent medical care
one would want if they wanted to make sure he was around a good long time to visit with

us.” Nothing was sald about location.

During the initial period of hospitalization, AZ suffered from pulmonary
congestion, an atonic colon, a marked drop in his platelet count (to 32,000), fever, and an
emerging bullet tract infection. After an adjustment to his antibiotic coverage, and a
) surgical exposure and ant1septlc irrigation of the length of the bullet track (by the contract
) ClAAct surgeon), he began to improve, with rising platelet count, some, cleanng of the lungs, and
) NatSecAct jesg sustained fever. '® Nonetheless, as a precaution ntensivist was_*

) requested to travel to site, against the possibility of further compl1cat10ns

(b)(
(b)(
X
X

1
3
(b)(3
(b)(6
As during most crises, the demand for mformatxon was unendmg, and m this case
extended to the White House. Accordingly, on-sifé medical personnel, in addition to

(b)(1) providing a 24-hour hospital presence, respondedﬁgmany e-mails and phoil?'éalls and
(b)(3) NatSecAct from April 2" onward prepared a detailed, lZ-hounLﬁlcal;lvupdate (at 2:00 #f. and 2:00
p.m. locally) to allow the DCI to make timely reportS®Ehese cable reports were prepared

primarily by RMO, just arrived to fiiBhitor AZ’s progress. With the
(b)(1) RMO’s arrival, and inpatient care now primarily in the hands of thDurgeon the
(b)(3) NatSecAct OMS contract surgeon and anesthetist were able to depart.
) e v, W'w —
Although showing slow overall 1mp1wement AZ,s hospital course was not

(b)(1) without complication. On the mommg of April 4" he coughed up his respirator tube,
(b)(3) CIAAct then proved too weak to breath on his own, and _was reintubated. Fortuitously, the
(b)(3) NatSecAct ilntensmst oversaw further pulmonary care. Three
(b)(6) - days later—a week after’ hosplxtahzanon—AZ was safely weaned from the respirator.
' Meanwhxlg:‘_on April 6™ a fever had retmn medg apparently triggered by a deterioration of
his leg %ound On three consecutive days (April 6-8),:burgeon (assisted by an ’
OMS PA) debrided necrotic tissue from the wound, which ultimately left the bullet tract

(b)(1) ' clean butiwidely laid open‘along its entire length. A final debndement was accomphshed
(b)(3) NatSecAct two days [ater ' EA2

As AZ’s leg mfectwn and respiratory problems came under control, new
concerns presented. ' A n’s’mg amylase, worsening liver function tests, and a falling
(b)(1) hemoglobin (never definitively explained) led to the discovery of an intra-abdominal
(b)(3) NatSecAct inflammatory mass near the site of a bullet fragment. Reluctantly, an exploratory
laparotomy was considered, but fortunately proved unnecessary. An endophthalmitis
also developed in AZ’s left eye, which had been opacified at the time he came into
Agency hgnds. Eophthalmologist recommended urgent enucleation, to avoid

S E.g., Los Angeles Ttmes and New York Times, both 3 April 2002.
16 The present account is not meant to be a detailed medical history; the few specifics given here are |
intended only to give a general sense of the case.

’ . 8
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involvement of the good eye. OMS, in consultation with cleared Washington-area -
specialists, opted rather for antibiotics and culture (which proved negative). This
inflammation soon resolved, and eventually the left orbit atrophied without further
complication.

These proved to be the last of AZ’s medical crises, and with his continued
improvement, the intensivist departed. On April 12" he was moved from the ICU to a
VIP suite, afebrile, pain-free, on a full diet, with a leg wound now healthy in appearance,
‘and able to get up and down on his own. Medical concerns werenow replaced by
(b)(1) operational concerns.
(b)(3) NatSecAct \ Now.
' desplte a 24-hour Agency'bedside presence, AZ was pot ‘nalleelgEo speak t«( (1 )ﬁ

staff, which could reveal his identity and thus whereabutSt b)(3) NatSecAct
4.“ ‘0

On April 15™, after _]ust three days in thegpnvate suite, but two wegks aﬁer his
(b)(1) __ admission and nineteen days since his gunshot&wound AZ) Wwas transferred back to
(b)(3) NatSecAct TA headquarters-based physician, ER-quahﬁed nurse, and new'PA arrived
to take over care.. By month’s end, a continuous physwxan and PA presence no longer
were needed, and for the next three months AZ’s day-to-day care was provided by TDY
OMS nurses who administered twice dally »and then daily, Wound care and dressing
(b)(1) changes. For the first phase of exclusively nursejcoverage, RMO made
(b)(3) NatSecAct weekly two-day return visits, but things went so smogthly that'these eventually were
discontinued. 5 ~
ﬂ»-—— 3. s < .
With his leg- wound vmbly healmg, s primary medical concern was a mild
prostatms (manifést only bya trace of blood in hls%emen) which’he feared was the first
sign of an impending loss, of “ma.nhood »_He.also was inclined to focus on other minor
complamts—‘é'S?*e"Exally durmg periods of mtefrogatxon—mcludmg some knee
dxscomfort intestinaligas, pains, and a mild reflux esophagitis. Basically, however, he
was a'h althy young tﬁm’%gwen té‘sai(},me hypochrondriasis.

' Versed and morphine were given to ease the transfer.

(b)(1) '
m(b)( ) NatSecAct—&‘em
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Embracing SERE (Survival, Evasion, Resistance, Escape]

The circumstances of AZ’s capture had not lessened the urgency felt to question
him about a “second wave” of al-Qa’ida attacks. Later press reports claimed that not
only did his injuries not delay this questioning, but that his acute pain was exploited. The
most detailed version of this myth had Agency doctors installing an IV drip through
which a short-acting narcotic pamklller was switched on and off, depending on
Zubaydah’s degree of cooperatlon ® In actual fact, AZ was not interrogated during the
painful phase of his injuries (for much of which he was on a resplrator), or at any point
while he was in the hospital. At no time then or later were medlcatlons of any sort
withheld.

/ /

The interrogation approach initially taken with; AZ yas relati &gly conventional.
Within the limits of his medical condition, these m}olved».a combmatwn of positive and
negative incentives, with the expectation that modest pressures would be:fiecessary to
weaken his psychological defenses. Permission {0 use a fé‘w non-phys1cal bju;tg'mlldly
aggressive techniques, if necessary, had been granted ust‘prlogto his returnéfro
hospxtalﬁ These included an austere cell; hmlted clothing, sleep
deprivation, bright lights, white n01se\and dietary mampulatlon (i.e., a nutritionally
adequate diet of Ensure supplemented w1th tyitamins). Under the c:rcumstanccs

“positive” incentives would be the re of’w1thgrawn amemtles’ such as the retumn of
full clothing, a more comfortable chair orSleeping#artangement, and a more interesting
diet.

This basic approach o) leamed was drawn mostly from the military’s SERE
(Survival, Evasior, ﬁ%‘%tance, Escape) trammg program. With antecedents dating to the
JKorean War, SERE was desn %ﬁ%:epare nilitary personnel for capture by
famlhanzm them with howigh y mi t Teact to various interrogation techniques, and
offer soni€ coping skllls It was the only extant U.S. program to subject personnel to

physmalﬂnterrogatwn measures <
) v,\

At one time OMS pgychologlsts, psychiatrists, and medlcs were extensively
involved in a SERE-hke Agency program also designed to prepare employees—initially
U-2 pllots—ag;‘;ﬁst‘the poss1b111ty of capture and interrogation. OMS staffers assessed
candidates, momtored partlclpants and even served as instructors in thlS program

4’1'

'8 Gerald Posner Why America SIept The Failure to Prevent 9/11 (New York: Random House, 2003, PP
184-186.

' During the Korean War, many American POWSs collaborated to some extent with their captors. This was
believed the result of interrogation techniques, which might have been resisted more effectively had
previous training been available. As a result, by the mid-1950s several SERE-like training programs had
been developed and implemented. When the SERE antecedents of the Agency program finally were
widely publicized, particularly in 2007, it was popular to say that SERE techniques had been “reverse
engineered” to produce the Agency (and military) interrogation techniques. No reverse engineering was
needed, however; the interrogation techniques used on SERE trainees were simply used on detainees.

(b)(1)
@U—(b)@) NatSecAct—hmf
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\ The Agency’s “Risk of Capture” and “Enduring Enemy
Detention” training was much less physical than SERE training (discussed more fully
below), but did include sleep deprivation and confinement in a narrow, upright box
(another SERE technique). The perceived need for this program dwindled in the 1980s,
and it finally was terminated in the early Nineties. A few OMS staffers still on-board in
2002 had supported this program, but none were familiar with the current SERE
experience, nor its more physical techniques.

£

The Agency office with the greatest current SERE famthnty ‘was the Office of
Technical Services (OTS), in which were located a unit of operatlonally-onented
psychologists whose interests in interrogation extended back almost fifty years.”’ While
Agency involvement in interrogations programs had all but dxsappeared after the mid-
1980s, a SERE-trained psychologist had joined the @TNstaff in 19995 and through him
OTS was acquainted with the current SERE progfam and some of its psycihologlfsts

£ y N Y

In the immediate wake of 9/11 OTS again refurnedstothe subject of,i\?t‘errogation
and that September contracted with recently retired AigEorce SERE psychologist Jim
Mitchell to produce a paper on al- Qa\1da resistance-to-interrogation techniques. . Mitchell
collaborated with another Air Force SEER psychologlst Bruce,Jessen, and eventually
produced “Recognizing and Developmg Countermeasures tovﬁfi)a ida Resistance to
Interrogation Techniques: A Resistance Trammg ’Perspectlve P Following AZ’s
capture, Mitchell was S%Q:Ito serve asa behmd the-scenes consultant to
interrogators and the gpsite %staff psychologlst (who was there to evaluate AZ
psychologically, andfexplore possnble approaches to mterrogatmn and debriefing.)

‘\‘.5

Under most c1rcumstances, 1ntenogators fseek to exploit the initial shock of
capture, whicl:in AZ:s casé'was long Sitice:past. In lieu of this they chose to take
advantageggﬁhe “shock of his: Jeturn to detainee prisoner status, in the austerity of a

cell. One day after hls‘retum from the comfortable hospital setting, a three
day periodief interrogation Was begun employing all the previously approved measures.
The on-site:OMS phys1c1ana=momtored this closely, and found that neither the initial
three-day penod of sleep dé‘pnvatlon nor shorter periods repeated several days later that
week impacted his contl-g}ung recovery. These measures also failed to garner any
BN

The antecedents of thls_:ﬁ‘l’t had overseen much of the MKULTRA interrogation research in the 1950s
and 1960s, published still-relevant classified papers on the merits of various interrogation techniques,
contributed heavily to a 1963 KUBARK Counterintelligence Interrogation Manual and its derivative 1983
Human Resources Manual, assisted directly in early interrogations, and (with OMS) provided instruction in
the Agency’s Risk of Capture training. Bureaucratic tensions between OMS and OTS (and their antecedent
offices) extended across 50 years, and again were at a peak in 2002. While concurrent questions of
organizational charter, expertise, and placement color much of the OMS detainee experience, this
complicated issued is beyond the scope of this history.

2! Mitchell had 13 years of experience in the Air Force SERE program, and Jessen 19 years. Additionally,
Jessen had worked with released U:S. military detainees in the Nineties. .

| (b)(1) -
@(b)( ) NatSecAct—@
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dramatic new intelligence. A one day repetition the following week was similarly .
ineffectual. As the on-site personnel assessed the situation, “there is unlikely to be a
‘Perry Mason’ moment where the subject ultimately gives up but rather will likely yield
information slowly over the course of the interrogations. The subject currently is taking a
hlghly sophlstlcated counter-interrogation resistance posture where his primary position
is to avoid giving details.”?

The next contemplated step—which was approved for use at the end of AZ’s first
week of interrogation—would have been more punitive: placmg him in a “confinement”
box akin to that previously used in the Agency’s own training p {;ogram As OMS was
advised, confinement boxes had been introduced into SEREzafter POW’s in Southeast
Asia reported being placed in small, uncomfortable boxes 2 K0ut 60% of the POWs so
treated said it led to their cooperation with mterrogators ‘«The prmed Agency box was
to be 30” x 20” x 85”, which was more spacious tharboth the “prot?fmype” SERE box and
the one once used in Agency training, The pl WA{S to conﬁne AZina re‘cl'u;mg box for
a trial period of 1-2 hours, repeated no more than 3 tlmes a\day, similar to imtial SERE
usage :|beheved that it would “achievé the\desued‘eﬂ'ect »

OMS, concerned that AZ might.accidentally or dehberately injure or contaminate
his wound in the box, specified that he¥aoibe placed on hik* @’ggmen and that there be
audio and infrared monitoring equlpment thelralready plﬁnn’ed by CTC).
Ultimately, use of the box was deferred s%\ihat Bly\lterrogators could attempt to make a
deal in which, in exchange for cooperation Avaould notibe turned over to Middle
Eastern countries seekmg His: custody. This\too, failed 10 gain the desired cooperation.
However, rather tl}an sunply return to the planned use of the confinement box, a more
systematic strategy now\ was deveioped

2{ hO April 2002§SECRET At\some early point AZ, apparently inadvertently, did give up
inforgriation,that led to the capfure in Chlcag9 "of Jose Padilla. Padilla was planning a “dirty bomb” attack

agamst Washmgton, D.C. or NéwgY ork. Most of what AZ provided were guesses as to what might
constitute a fitire target. At this nme the first of what later became a steady stream of leaks was reflected
ina ABC Worl&"!ﬁ’éws Tonight wport that AZ “has told U.S. interrogators al Qaeda plans to attack areas
where large numbersgof people si%p .And privately, some U.S. officials fear Zubaydah is toying with
them, trying to deplWetched U.S. resources. One official tells ABC News it’s going to take a
long time, if ever, to break;Abu Zubaydah.” ABC World News Tomght ABC TV, 23 April 2002, “Abu
Zubaydah Warns U.S. Inyvestigators.”

3 Both large and small boxes actually trace to a Russian usage in World War II. “The smallest type of
cell...was actually a box measuring a meter in each dimension into which the prisoner was crammed in a
sitting position. A large electric bulb in the ceiling provided an excess of light and heat, and after ten to
twenty hours the prisoner lost consciousness. After being revived with a bucket of icy water, he would be
interrogated immediately... A similar type of cell was aptly named the ‘standing coffin.’ It consisted of a
box about a half-meter in depth, a meter wide, and two meters high in which a prisoner could neither sit nor
lie down. Sometimes the standing-coffin was a full meter in depth and the prisoner could squat on the
floor; at other times the ceiling was so low that the prisoner could at no time stand fully upright.” Kermit
G. Stewart, Russian Methods of Interrogating Captured Personnel, World War 11 (Office of the Chief of
Military History, Department of the Army, 1951), p. 316
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With AZ’s continued recovery, and no immediate plans for intensive
interrogation, the headquarters physician and PA departed. During the follow-on

(b)(3) NatSecAct RMO visits, consideration was given to whether a skin graft would accelerate

the healing of the leg wound. It was judged that that, given the depth of the wound, this
would have to. wait. Assuming it could be arranged locally, this entirely elective
procedure would have to be timed so that the recovery period did not impede any
ongoing interrogation. As circumstances developed, no graft was seen as necessary; by
the time the wound had granulated in sufficiently, it was well on the way to complete
healing. : £,

In mid-June, AZ was informed that as a result of hiscfailure to cooperate the
sympathetic interrogation team then present was being w%hdrmand that he was to be
left in isolation to reconsider cooperating before a much mgre aggressive team arrived.
Then, for almost two months he was left in the hands- ofindifferent” guards who fed him
at irregular hours and only once a day (albeit w1th/sufﬁc1ent nutrients forégull day). An
OMS medical attendant continued to dress hls,wound altﬁough at less frequent’intervals,
averaging about every two days. Wound healing was‘carefully Jmonitored throughout,
and continued its steady 1mprovemen’\:“ \@\M

Given the lack of success with’ AZ ‘SERE psychologlsts Mitchell and Jessen (the
latter having retired from the Air Force'i m Maygg_nd became an, OTS IC) were tasked with
devising a more aggressive approach to interro gaﬁ%& ~Their solutlon was to employ the
full range of SERE techniques, They, togé’ther ‘with oth V‘OTS psychologists, researched
these techniques, sohcmng mformatlon on effectlveness and harmful after effects from
various psychologlsts z’psychlatn sts, academxcs .and the Joint Personnel Recovery
Agency (JPRA), whlch Syersawgmilitary SERE programs

As lafet categonzed by* Mntchell and J essen, the pressures to which SERE-trainees
are subjected duringa three-day-“‘captivity” fall into three general categories.
Condmomng techniquésiteaken psychological defenses and deprive the students of their
usual sense: of personal control Th‘gé include such things as stripping, diapering, sleep
depnvatlon;idletary restnctlon and solitary confinement; as noted, these measures also
provide an oppertumty for posmve rewards for cooperation. Corrective techniques are
physically punitive, and are de51gr1ed to sharply disabuse a trainee of the notion that they
won’t be touched and: focus them on the mterrogators and the questions being asked.
These include “attentlon” holds of the face, “attention” slaps to the abdomen and face,
and slamming the student against a wall (“walling”). Coercive techniques are the most
aggressive of the negative measures, and are designed to accelerate the trainee’s entrance
into full compliance. These can include placement in stressful positions, confinement in
boxes, dousing with water, immersion in cold ponds, and exposure to the “waterboard”
(which invokes a sense of drowning through the application of water to a cloth-covering
the nose and mouth of a supine subject). At the extreme some SERE programs even used
mock burials.

(b)(1 '
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‘Despite the physical and psychological intensity of the SERE program, thousands
of trainees had completed the course without physical or psychological aftereffects. In
part this is because SERE candidates (and instructors) are medically and psychologically
prescreened, and physicians and psychologists monitored the entire process. All
measures, even the most aggressive, are designed and administered to insure the safety of
those mterrogated “Slaps” are open-handed, short-arc, and directed at narrowly-
circumscribed “safe” areas; those “walled” are supported with a rolled towel around the
neck, and the blows directed against flexible walls designed to absorb the blow while
amplifying the sound; water immersion is limited by ambient air and water temperature;

., and water-board applications generally are limited to 20 seconds anid no more than 40
seconds, A

i\

By early July a specific plan for the aggressive, phase of AZ giinterrogation had
been worked out. The goal was to jarringly “dislogafe™Hhis ¢ expectatlons of treatment, and
thereby motivate him to cooperate. (At the nm%A%z was l%eheved to be'author 9; the al-
Qa’ida manual on interrogation resistance; hesStilltseemed to, think if he coul@,hold out
longer, he would be transferred into the benign U ngudlclal system.) The interrogations
would be handled exclusively by the two contract SERE psychologlsts * who would
escalate quickly through a “menu” of pre-approved techniques. These were to be “the
same techniques used on U.S. military’persennel during SERExtraining” (detailed above),
designed for maximum psychological 1mpac?"1thout causing Severe physical harm. n23
A medical person with SERE expenence-l e., a'senior OMS- PA, who had worked in the
previous Agency programs=was to be present throughoutaand when warranted, an OMS
physician.- The OMS mi€dical’ ofﬁcers excluiSive role was to assure AZ’s safety during - -

. interrogation. N ’\; ':j
\\:N A W
Asa practlcal matt\g \and&wuhaOMS conicurrence, there were to be two sizes of
confinement boxes Conﬁneg(nent in t]w‘égp!’f'ewously described larger box would be limited
to 8 hour§¢ (and no’more than I'8hours total in a 24 hour period). A much smaller box
also would be built, measurmg 30%1’@ x 21”x 30”. Confinement in this box would be

‘\\-ﬁ, N Y
L N .
e N
. \’3\}

>

*cTC descnbed Jessen as a “SERE interrogation specialist” experienced “in the techniques of
confrontational mterrog;'uons /

3 Alfred McCoy, a professor of history of some note later claimed in 4 Question of Torture (REF) that the
CIA approach to interrogation reflected an internal program extending back to the 1950s. Agency interest
in interrogation did begin very early, and continued into the early Eighties, but was not a direct antecedent
of the 2002 CTC approach, which came directly from Jessen and Mitchell’s SERE experience. Both SERE
and initial Agency thinking, however, drew on the same early Agency and military-funded studies. The
early research was summarized in Albert D. Biderman and Herbert Zimmer, eds., The Manipulation of
Human Behavior (New York, Wiley & Sons, 1961), with which Jessen and Mitchell were familiar. Their
conceptual framework relied heavily on the Biderman chapter by Lawrence Hinkle on “The physiological
state of the interrogation subject as it affects brain function.” Both Biderman and Hinkle had received
MKULTRA support. For McCoy'’s perspective, see Alfred W. McKoy, 4 Question of Torture: CIA
Interrogation, from the Cold War to the War on Terror (New York: Metropolitan Books/Henry Holt and
Co., 2006). McCoy occupies a named chair at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.
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limited to two hours.?® Care was to be taken not to force AZ’s legs into a position that
would compromise wound healing. In actual practice, the larger box was used in an
upright position, through its dimensions were such that AZ (who was quite flexible),
could sit down if he chose, albeit in a cramped position; even the small box
accommodated a squatting position sometimes adopted by AZ on his own volition. At
the planned point of peak interrogational intensity, waterboard applications would be
alternated with use of the confinement boxes (in which he would “contemplate his
situation”) until, it was hoped, “fear and despair” led to cooperation.

OTS psycholog13ts prepared briefing papers to accompa%%gency request to
DoJ seeking an opinion on whether the SERE-techniques cod %glg\gally be used in an
actual interrogation. Of the possible measures, only the watcrboard and mock burial
were believed by the Agency’s Office of General Couns"g(OGC) tQ@uue prior
Department of Justice (DoJ) approval. However, ten- “Enhanced Interrggation
Techniques” (EITs) initially were proposed: attention grasp, walling techmque, facial
hold, facial or insult slap, cramped confinement: boxes, wallystanding, stress@"smons
sleep deprivation, waterboard (“historically the most effectivertechnique used by the U.S.
military”), and mock burials. To these was added théplacement of harmless insects in
the confinement box (based on AZ’s apparent dlSCOmfmlth insects). After
preliminary discussion with the Department of Justice, mock:burial had been eliminated:
from consideration. Of specific interest,was.whether any of these measures were barred
by the most relevant Federal torture statuté which’ prohlblted the intentional infliction of
severe physical or mental. pam or suffering®’ 5~

//“‘f‘*"“

Among the items forwarded to DoJ along with the request was a 24 July 2002
OTS paper on “Psycho]qglcal Terms Employed! égfthe Statutory Prohibition on Torture,”
a memorandum from the’ Axr Force Chief of Psychology Services, Major Jerald Ogrisseg,
on the Air Forceexpenence w1th SERE; and an OTS-prepared AZ psychological
assessmefit. According: 9 Ognsseg, almost 27,000 students had undergone Air Force
SEREftraining betweens 1&992 and*20 17'of which only 0.14% had been pulled for
psychological reasons (and:of whlchvhone were known to have had “any long-term
psychologie%pact”). 'IghEOTS paper assessed the relative risk of the various
techniques, andooncluded that while they had been administered to volunteers “in a
harmless way, wi y o measurable impact on the psyche of the volunteer, we do not
believe we can assUrglhe same for a man. ..forced through these processes.... The

more earlier] |

%7 The quotations in this and the preceding paragraph are from an outgoing cable, from ALEC to

li|9 July 2002, outlining the proposed plan. The CTC/Legal analysis was presented to the Legal

Adpviser to the NSC, and the DOJ Office of Legal Counsel, and Criminal Division,; it also was briefed to the

Counsel to the President. See CTC/Legal to ?5 July 2007.

% A DOJ review of the use of mock burials would have been much more nme-consummg than what was

needed for the other measures. Some of this history is found in Office of the Inspector General,
“Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004,

pp. 13-15.
j TUP‘SECRET ©)(1) ‘N‘O‘FOR‘N
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intent...is to make the subject very disturbed, but with the presumption that he will
recover.” “The plan is to rapidly overwhelm the subject, while still allowing him the
option to choose to cooperate at any stage as the. pressure is being ratcheted up. The plan
hinges on the use of an absolutely convincing technique. The water board meets this
need. Without the water board, the remaining pressures would constitute a 50 percent
solution and their effectiveness would dissipate progressively over time, as the subject
figures out that he will not be physically beaten and as he adapts to cramped
confinement.” >

DolJ’s Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) prepared three 5 énioranda in response to
the Agency request, all dated 1 August 2002. An unclassifiedigl.egal Memorandum, Re:
Standards of Conduct for Interrogatron » spelled out in broad detail what would and
would not fall within the provisions of the Torture Convéntion, as ifriplemented within
the United States. A second unclassified memo concluded that under mt?atlonal law,
interrogations not barred within the U.S. would not be within the Junsdlctron of the
International Criminal Court. Theé third, classifiéd memorz‘i‘ndum, applied tHe judgments
of the first two to the interrogation of Abu Zubayd%‘f: Ttus explicit memo, entitled
“Interrogation of al Qaeda operative,” summarized thi; proposed techniques, their record
in the SERE program, and the proposed medical safeguards then advised—per the Legal
Memorandum—that torture, as legally defined, was “the infliction of severe physical or
mental pain-or suffering;” that severe physical pain “is pajn that is difficult for the
1nd1v1dua1 to endure and is of an intensity:akin to the - pam accompanying serious phys1cal
injury.” Their conclusion was that “[n]on‘e%of the proposed techniques inflicts such pain.”
These explicitly included slapggwalling, stress positions; confinement boxes, sleep .
deprivation, and the waterboardZNor did the waterboard legally “inflict severe [physical]
suffering,” because it'was. srmply a controlled -acute eplsode, lacking the connotation of
a protracted penod of tlm"é”generally glven to suﬁ’ermg

Wrth regard” to&yhether the techmques inflicted severe mental pam, Dol wrote
that to“be prohibited by §tatute they«would have to cause “prolonged mental harm,”
“dlsrupt profoundly the senses or the personality” (i.e., through the administration of a
“mind-altering substance of procedure”) or threaten imminent death. With the exception
of the waterboéfd (and mock burial, which had been dropped from consideration), none
of the techniques*therefore was prohibited. “Although the waterboard constitutes a threat
of imminent death,” the SERE record indicated that it did not cause the requisite

% OMS was not part of the preparation of these papers and first saw them the following spring, 2003. The
DoJ August 1, 2002 memorandum on “Interrogation of al Qaeda Operative,” which was provided to OMS
m summer 2002 did quote or summarize some portions of the OTS-prepared material.

3 Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency, “Interrogatlon
of al Qaeda Operative,” 1 August 2002. A separate, unclassified memo that date, stated, “Physical pain
amounting to torture must be equivalent in intensity to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, such
as organ failure, impairment of bodily function, or even death.” Legal Memorandum, Re: Standards of
Conduct for Interrogation under 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002), in Office of the Inspector
General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 ~ October 2003),” 7
May 2004, p. 19.

TOP_SECRET (B)(1) |
’—d(b)(?;) NatSecAct—@

16

Approved for Release: 2018/08/13 C06541727



Case 18-2265, Document 55-4, 11/14/2018, 2434171, Pagel?2 of 52
JA-274

C06541727 Approved (for Release: 2018/08/13 CO6541 727

b)(3) NatsSecAct
POP—SECRET/ /NOFORN//MR

(b)(3) NatSecAct \

“prolonged mental harm,...e.g., mental harm lasting months or years.” Thus the use of
this procedure “would not constitute torture within the meaning of the statute.”

(b)(1)

(b)(3) NatSecAct With both deﬁnmve Dol legal guidance and White House concurrence in hand,

on August 3" the field was cabled approval to proceed. Notwithstanding the reported
safety of the SERE measures, OMS believed the presence of both a physician and the PA
was warranted, at least during waterboard applications. In anticipation of DoJ approval,

(b)(1) two RMOs had been asked if they were willing to participate, and both agreed. In early
(b)(3) NatSecAct July RMO, en route to a temporary assignment 2 was
met and briefed at Dulles Airport. At the end of July, upon oral’; approval from DoJ (and
(b)(1) the White House), he was dispatched to await the&ntten approval. At
(b)(3) NatSecAct ‘ (RMO reconfirmed AZ’s basif g good health, and reported to

OMS a local belief that the enhanced measures would succged within 72-96 hours, i.e.,

within the length of a typical SERE program. After a week th% '‘RMO, who had
accompanied the initial AZ rendition, was to relieve this RMO; he, too, %as brought to
Washington for a briefing.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

During the upcoming penod of intense mterrogathn AZ was to be glven the
impression that he could not escape intg an alleged need-fomedical care. Medical
attendants would no longer dress his woundrather, a guard%@;ccasspna]ly left dressings
and antiseptics with which he was to take cfr'~ "%‘f himself. In‘actual fact, this “guard” was
a PA or physician (with face covered, as were all)the guards),swho carefully monitored
the wound, and made any necgsary cuts of the tape as‘AZ 100k care of the dressing,

o’

3 Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency, “Interrogation
of al Qaeda Operative,” 1 August 2002. In the separate unclassified memo of that date, DoJ also wrote,
“For purely mental pain or suffering to amount to torture under Section 2340, it must result in significant

- psychological harm of significant duration, e.g., lasting for months or even years.” Legal Memorandum,
Re: Standards of Conduct for Interrogation under 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002), in Office of the
Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October

- (b))
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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Initiation of “Enhanced Interrogation Techniques” (EIT's)

On August 4™ “enhanced interrogation techniques” were begun. Within six
hours these progressed from attention slaps and walling to confinement in both the large
(about 5 hours) and small (about 1 hour) boxes, and finally to the water board. The
initial waterboard sessions lasted about two hours, although with significant breaks and
with no single apphcatlon exceeding 17 seconds; and none exceeding 30 seconds in a
later second session.>* After a final half-hour in the small box ‘;.\Z was left overnight in
the large box. Medical—which remained continuously on-sife ithroughout the intense
phase of interrogation—monitored AZ’s condition througho”flt theknight via a grainy
video feed from inside the box. The next day, 5 August “AZ was subjected to a similar
course. Neither day produced notable intelligence /élﬁ'é‘;plte‘ w1111ngness to give other
kinds of information, AZ was sticking to his preyious statement that he Hathdisclosed
what little he knew on imminent threats. Informally, the RMO wrote that %‘ﬁé’ems
amazingly resistant to the waterboard” and was “becomlng habltuated to the*boxes.”
Contrary to expectations, the process was going to take “g’long time.” The whole
experience, the RMO added was “visually and psychologlcally very uncomfortable” for
all those witnessing it.>*

et

iV
EITs continued to be applied with¥aryin degreﬁ of mtensny until the morning
of 8 August, when a partlcularly aggressxvsesflon 1eft¥A%7#highly distraught, and some
of the on-site staff profoundly affected. In the wake, thevgn-snte personnel concluded the
intense phase should not be conn}}ued much further and that senior CTC personnel
needed to see the proeessxﬂrst hﬁnd The same'protocols nonetheless were continued for
the next few days, as plangiwere: made for a video-teleconference (VTC) w1th

#lhicion;site medxcal role began%o include staff counseling.*®

n August 13""$theb‘VTC was héld, including video clips from the full range of -

(b)(6) intefrogation efforts. l:pMS was one of those in attendance. Despite a grainy
appearance¥the intensity of; the ongomg interaction was graphically evident. CTC
analysts, howeygr, remainedjconvinced that AZ had detailed time-perishable information,

A\

3 The waterboard was p\oi sitioned slightly head down—as was done in SERE——and included a capability to
(b)(1 ) quickly pivot to a verticalfposition to facilitate clearing the air passages.”’> The medical team had limited
(b)(3) NatSecAct AZ to liquids for several hours preceding this exposure, but when his anticipated vomiting included solids
from early that moming, he was restricted to liquids only for the duration of the intense phase.
. * Lotus Note,l:l Medic to]  MS, 5 August 2002, SECRET
(b)(3) CIAAct 35 Thought was given locally to bringing in a staff psychologist or psychiatrist to work with the staff. The
(b)(6) on-site OTS personnel objected to this, a reflection of long-standing antipathy between OMS and OTS on
the psychology side, and an OTS belief that they should control all “operational psychology.” As these
were potentially staff consultations, this argument wasn’t accepted. However, it was decide that a more

v

(b)(1) practical approach was to have OMS staff evaluate/counsel all staff personnel on their return from
(b)(3) NatSecAct!  [and psychologically prescreen anyone being sent oul(‘b) (1) or other future detention
sites).
- ) (b)(3) NatSecAct 8

(b)(1) '
ml—d(b)@) NatSecActh
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which warranted a continuation of the process ® Given the on-site OTS psychologist
assessment that AZ’s psychological status was fundamentally sound, and the RMO’s*’
judgment that the wound still looked acceptable (albeit at some risk if the process
continued another two weeks), C/CTC directed the enhanced interrogations to continue.
However, to allow AZ more opportunity to cooperate, the breadth of questioning was to
be broadened considerably; and all decisions on technique left to those at site.

Enhanced measures continued for the next ten days, albeit at a much lower
intensity. The waterboard was applied on only two of those days,fAugust 15 and 19), and
for the final three days the small confinement box was not used’éEf/en this limited
waterboard use was meant only as a brief reminder when A;appeared to be backsliding.

Between these final two waterboard sessions, ‘alﬁuestron was raised by the field
about the possible use of a medical “drsmhlbltor, syich as, sodium amytal, which
prompted another OMS review of “truth serums£#Such drugs, although\wrdely regarded
as unreliable sources of “truth,” were believed potentlally?xs,eful as an “excqse’,"’that

= would allow the subject to be more forthcoming while,stillssaving face. While
undertaking the review, OMS informally agreed to consider supporting this alternative
approach, providing that the actual administration was handled by a qualified physician,
€.8., an OMS psychiatrist. In practrce AZ"s continued coopgtation with the new line of
question made new measures unnecessary 3% 3\’“ e *
\, .

Medically, AZ showed remarkable resrhence throughout the process, in part due
to a manifest concern for ‘hisoWn physical well -being. The early worry that he would
attempt to aggravate' h1§ wound¥especially wh11e in the confinement boxes, proved
entirely unfounded. Hefalways was very attentlve to his dressings. The boxes
themselves eventually seemed SERyezas,an escape from more severe measures. During
the most physrcal hase ofvfh%mterro vwound healing did slow, and eventually
there was ‘thinimal detenoratlon' of some margins. No signs of infection presented,
however and the intense phase of the interrogation ended before further deterioration
would have forced medrca‘lggrterventlon

S “‘*

Durm%g%he final, transmon phase of enhanced interrogation (which began on
August 19 and ended the.23"), AZ was in an increasingly benign environment. This
allowed solid food; gr\éatly improved hygiene, and the resumption of more active medical
care. The edges of hys' wound quickly recovered, and the healing in of the basic defect
resumed. When AZ entered the “debriefing” mode, both the RMO and the PA were
able to depart, replaced—as previously—by headquarters-based nurses, who attended to
the healing leg wound.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

% On-site personnel came to believe that Headﬁuaners thou%ht the field had lost its objectivity.

37 By this time I:IRMO had replaced 0.

3 Another question raised was whether a small'amount of shrapnel, still imbedded in his parietal lobe after
(b)(1)
a war injury some years earlier, could explain his failure to recall certain details. Our consultants judged
(b)(3) NatSecAct o

' (b)(1)
w’iwﬁ(b)(s) NatSecAct—‘@‘em
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(b)(1) Within two weeks questions about AZ’s candor again were raised and
(b)(3) NatSecAct RMO was sent for against the possible resumption of more intense methods. Enhanced
methods proved unnecessary, but during th RMO’s weeklong stay at '
the] 'RMO flew down to be briefed into the program. To
further build the support cadre, th(b)(1) RMO was recalled to headquarters for
‘ the same briefing. - (b)(3) NatSecAct ‘
b)(1) ' '
Eb;§3; NatSecAct Onf,  Jas \—[RMO returned the U.S. raised -
its terror alert level to “orange” [high], and precipitously closed’tHirteen embassies and
consulates. | (b)(1)
(b)(1) , (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct

No attacks materialized, but the anxiéty level Temained highsgln the_
Washington, D. C. area, five separate “snipergfattacks the Tirst week in October; left five
random Washington area residents dead—all killed@sth ynt about routine daily
activities. For three difficult weeks, until the killers were captured the sniper attacks
were believed by some to be another terrorist assault dst this local angst, on October

12™ the al-Qa’ida-affiliated JI bombed a mghtclub in Bal, lmg 202 people.

b)(1) :
(b)(3) NatSecAct Amidst these ongoing developments two other “hlgh value targets” (HVTs) were
captured who eventually wougg be handed" over ‘to CTG “One was Ramzi Bmalshlb a
former member of the‘_l;lamburg 911 cell arrested in Karachi on September 1 1%,
| In mid-October, about the time of
the Bali bombmg,'Abdul Rahim-al-Nashiri was‘)arrestedz Nashiri was al-
. Qa’ida’s senior representag’ve 1nyﬂ%ulf and believed directly linked to both the
b)(1) East African‘emibassy. bombings and the'bombing of the USS Cole. |

(b) ‘
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1) |
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Antlolpatmg the transfer of; al% least one of these HVT’s, RG hurried to complete a
second facil; ‘)ﬂ \
(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

ke

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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(b)(1) ‘ OnDNovember, Nashiri was transferred to Agency custody, and flown on an

Agency rendition flight to an Agency faclhty\ \ Both an
OMS PA and contract psychologist-interrogator Mitchell accompanied this rendition. At
| |Mitchell and Jessen (who had been there assisting with interrogations for the
preceding two weeks) prepared a mental status evaluation, an assessment of Nashiri’s
(b)(1) “resistance posture,” and proposed an “interrogation plan.” Nashiri, then age 37, had
(b)(3) NatSecAct seemed arrogant and immature, transparently feigning distress, and provocatively

. disrupting his interviews and questioning, but was without apparent mental disorders.
(b)(1) The plan was to move him to where, if he remained uncqoperative, he would
(b)(3) NatSecAct be subjected to increasingly intense enhanced interrogation megdStires™ At headquarters,

' an OTS psychologist reviewed the assessment and plan, andgagreed that there was no
evidence Nashiri would be unable to endure enhanced measuréé%@at they would cause

(b)(1) him “severe, profound, or permanent harm.” A physician thus wastgeded to monitor his
(b)(3) NatSecAct Planned interrogation. ﬁ%\

P

(b)(3) NatSecAct

Nashiri was moved t'o‘ €
(b)(1) RMO, summoned to rejoin the on-site PA, arrived*qT] RAL| [Nashiri
(b)(3) NatSecAct immediately was subjected to slaps, walling, and th?’conﬁnement boxes (which, because
of his small stature, proved a relatlvel\ybem gn sanctuary). <A week later, after some

(b)) - . perceived success, these intense meas Swere suspended, arid. thDRMO
(b)(3) NatSeCAct departed. Unexpectedly a combination of urgenitconcerns ledif'c?)i?another day of
' aggressive interrogation, on November bet;ore..th RMO could arrive.

These measures, which included all the prevxously appliedtheasures plus 1-3 brief

(b)(1) -~ applications of the waterboard ‘were momtored by the PA-and accomplished without -

(b)(3) NatSecAct complication.” 2 o)) %

(b)(1) (b)(3) NatSecAct |

(b)(3) NatSecAct | i now was available, so
interrogafidns were suspended-and plans laid for a quick depaxture: The

(b)(1) anglgwme RMO ailowed the on-site PA—who was to accompany the

(b)(3) NatSecAct transfer to visit and buy ‘cold-weather clothes. On December|  the transfer

was effected. Medlcally, both detainees were in good shape. AZ’s leg wound
(b)(1) now measured only a 1x2 ¢, and was easily covered by a small bandage. Both

(b)(3) NatSecAct detainees were Sl%%(\led agd hooded for the trip, and transported lying on their sides.*?

: Initially the rendition eréw proposed a gag and duct tape to prevent communication, but
(b)Y(1) . . this was overruled by:the PA. A1rsxckness could lead to vomiting and, with mouths
(b)(3) NatSecAct blocked, to asplratlon

*! The PA wrote of only one session, a later IG review said two, and a later CTC summary said three; all
agreed that these were of very short duration.

** Hooding during transfer was primarily for security reasons, to prevent detainees from identifying their
locations. Eventually medical personnel became concerned that in some cases hood might unacceptably
restrict air flow, so during flights detainees were monitored with pulse oximeters. If oxygen saturation
began to drop, the hood was pulled above the nose. This problem eventually was remedied by replacing
hoods with eye patches and opaque goggles.

Ppep—secrgg/ | (1) NOEGRN
’—/’{(b)( )NatSeoAct—L‘

(
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(b)(1)
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The late December Washington Post articleghasamong the fifsgito claim
knowledge of the Agency’s interrogation techn*gges “Sources” did correctly report (or.
guess) that these techniques included sleep depn\\%t}en “a pr\actxce with amblguous
status in international law™), and stress positions. “Bhey erred'm alleging manipulation of
Zubaydah’s medical care: “National security officials{Suggested that Zubaida’s
painkillers were used selectively in the beginning of his capt1v1ty %5 This speculation,
echoed in a Post editorial, was repeated more emphatlcallyijust a few months later by
both the Los Angeles Times and New York Times' (“U.S. officrals’admitted withholding
painkillers;” “painkillers were withheld from Mr‘# Zubaydah”) “And from there, it
immediately went to the editorial pages of the:Brzttsh Meédical Journal, which asked if
“the doctors ass1§ned to%rrogatnon centres protestte’d .at the denial of painkillers to
Abu Zubaydah.” In‘late 2005.“an authoritative U.S. official” finally was quoted as
saying that the pain medlcatlon story “never happefied.” But by then it had become an
accepted “fact,” a fact soon fmore; fitly enshrined in books. *
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“ “U S. Decries Abuse but Defends Intcrrogatlons," Washmgton Post, 26 December 2002
“Fxghtmg “terrorism’”. thh torture ”” BMJ 326:773-774 (12 April 2003).
a “Torture is Not an Opnon » Washmg!on Post, 27 December 2002; “Rights on the Rack,” Los Angeles
Times, 6 March 2003; “Questlomng Terror Suspects in a Dark and Surreal World,” New York Times, 9
March 2003. Some later repetitions: “U.S. Pledges to Avoid Torture,” Washington Post, 27 June 2003
(“Officials said painkillers were used selectively to win cooperation of Abu Zubaida™); “Hussein
Disoriented, Defiant, Sources Say,” Washington Post, 15 December 2003; “The Policy of Abuse,”
Washington Post, 16 May 2004; “CIA Puts Harsh Tactics On Hold,” Washington Post, 27 June 2004,
“Disclosure of Authorized Interrogation Tactics Urged,” Washington Post, 3 July 2004; “The CIA’s
Prisoners,” Washington Post, 15 July 2004; “C.1.A. Expands Its Inquiry Into Interrogation Tactics,” New
York Times, 29 August 2004; “Vice President for Torture,” Washington Post, 26 October 2005  The lone
contradictory voice is found in “Italy presses U.S. on torture claim,” Chicago Tribune, 28 December 2005.
Among the books repeating this claim: Gerald Posner, Why America Slept: The Failure to Prevent 9/11
(New York: Random House, 2003, pp. 184-186; Sanford Levinson, ed., Torture: A Collection (Oxford:
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The question of drug-assisted interrogation

The intensity and duration of AZ’s interrogation came as a surprise to OMS and
prompted further study of the seemingly more benign alternative of drug-based
interviews.*® The only readily accessible summary of the Agency’s extensive early

- experience was a spring 1961 Studies in Intelligence article, ““Truth’ Drugs in
Interrogation,” which had concluded,

No such magic brew as the popular notion of truth§Serum exists. The
* barbiturates, by disrupting defensive patterns, may sorggtimes be helpful in
interrogation, but even under the best conditions theyiﬁwsi'l_l elicit an output
contaminated by deception, fantasy, garbled speegl, etc¥A major
vulnerability they produce in the subject is a tendency to bélicye he has
revealed more than he has. It is possible, however, ?or both normal
individuals and psychopaths to resist drug interrogation; it seemsikely that
any individual who can withstand ordjﬁé‘ii?ﬂiptensiv‘cﬂimerrogation canipold

out in narcosis.* S,

This wasn’t necessarily the final word, however, €¥en in 1961; Technical
* Services Division (TSD, predecessor to OTS) was in fact using drugs in
interrogation about that time (notably LSD)*8#d*MKULTRA drug research

continued at least two more years. Additibnally,dHei963 KUBARK [CIA]

Counterintelligence Interrogation manual, stgl:l}i’hclu%dfdfu'gs among the
potentially useful intgrr_bgatio;ri_‘_a’;gols, if onl)"s-g‘or a placebo effect, or to allow the
subject to ratlonali:z&igip\/\1ng up»1Yn\Ifonnat10n. @

An OMS staff ﬁéychiat;ﬁsf obtained from the DO’s Central Eurasian Division a
compilati%;ﬁﬁze‘p’drt-ing orithe Soviet drug program. OMS was aware that studies of
commupit “brain waghing” techniques in the 1950s and 1960s had concluded that

Sovigt#Satellite, and Chigﬁe suée;gé’)s/es”at “mind control” were achieved without the use
i

" 8 Similar tmg was partialb%ponsi&e for interest in the use of “truth serums” in the 1930s; they
avoided the morejphysical measures then in use by some police departments.
“ George Birmmetlgt Truth’ Dugs in Interrogation,” Studies in Intelligence 5(2):A1-A19 (Spring 1961).
Geroge Bimmerle wasfatpseudonym for a TSD/Behavioral Activities Branch (BAB) non-scientist working
principally as a researchégand writer, but once involved in surreptitious LSD administration. This article

_ apparently was preparedwith help from Dr. Edward Pelikan, a consultant pharmacologist formerly on the
Technical Services Staff (TSS, predecessor to TSD). In 1977 the Agency introduced the text of this article,
without title, author, date or sourcing into Congressional Hearings on MKULTRA, as a statement of then
current thinking on drugs in interrogation. LSD received only the passing comment that “information
obtained from a person in a psychotic drug state would be unrealistic, bizarre, and extremely difficult to
assess... Conceivably, on the other hand, an adversary service could use such drugs to produce anxiety or
terror in medically unsophisticated subjects unable to distinguish drug-induced psychosis from actual
insanity.”
%0 KUBARK Counterintelligence Interrogation (1963),99. 131 ( SECRET). While no author is listed, the
manual was prepared by or jointly with the TSD/BAB psychology staff. A redacted version of this manual
was released to the public in 1997.
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of drugs. The 2002 CE data was consistent with this, in suggesting that the most intense
period of Soviet drug study had not come until the 1980s, in the wake of intense 1970’s
publicity surrounding the Agency’s drug programs. It appeared that the Soviets had
looked into drugs similar to those once investigated by the C.1.A. and U.S. military (e.g.,
psychotomlmetlcs barbiturates), and—as in the U.S.—had failed to find any particularly
useful drug

The issue of drug-based interrogation vs. SERE techniques was discussed with
three OMS field-based psychiatrists at a Mental Health Division (MHD) field conference
the first of October. All had been exposed to amytal mterv1ewsﬁurmg their residency
training or later, typically treatmg hysterical paralysis. The goozg“ of the interviews had not -
been to establish actual facts, but rather to seek the ‘psychologlcal truth” behind the
condition. The psychiatrists, while not optimistic, thought\that given the alternatives the
subject was worth more study. A long distance dlalogue\contmued for the next 2-3
months, while each did his literature review, and’ﬁﬁ)mltted thoughts. \{'}fk ,

Eventually it was decided that the most promlsmg«érpproach would be'glong the
lines of traditional “narco-analysis.” Unquestmnabﬁ%fﬁe false information would

- result, as was the case with more physical methods, but t}usyxasn t necessarily a

showstopper. Even the unreliable barb{turate interviews of4h 1950s, in the hands of
sophisticated analysts, sometimes provnded useful leads.

Sw\

The preferred drug.appeared to be mldaz/z;lam (Versed), a comparatlvely new
benzodiazepine. Versed*was?‘(i):’ﬁe of the safest and most-éasily reversed benzodiazepines,
and clearly much préterable t:)vdai% older barblturates It also afforded some amnesia, a
sometimes desirable Secd dary effect. A downsxde was a requirement for (presumably)
physician-assisted mtra‘ye%bus admifiistration, which decades before had been an
argument agamst barblturat teanw LSD which could be administered

sxlently

B \"«“"'

‘Amibivalently, Versed was gonsidered possibly worth a trial if unequivocal legal
sanction ﬁrst\\were obtained., There were at least two legal obstacles: a prohibition
against medxcalvexpenmentatxon on prisoners, and a ban on interrogational use of “mind-
altering drugs” ot those whlch “profoundly altered the senses.” The latter seemed clearly
aimed at ha]lucmogens hke LSD (a legacy of MKULTRA), but the legal status of more
traditional “truth seryms” was not clear beyond the inadmissibility in court of information
obtained under their influence. The question became moot, since CTC/LGL did not want
to raise another issued with the Department of Justice.

*' “Drug Assisted Interviews,” 10 September 2002, (SECRET) Several years later, a laborious review of
Agency archival materials made possible the reconstruction of much of the early record on drug-assisted
interrogation. This clarified the actual practice and conclusions at the time, but did not identify any
particularly useful technique. .
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At the beginning of 2003 the OMS review (informally termed “Project
Medication”) was shelved, never to be reactivated. In retrospect, even had there been
legal sanction, an opportunity to try drug-assisted interrogation may never have
presented. An interrogation of the intensity of the AZ case was repeated only once
thetreafter, in a particularly high profile case; in all other cases, less robust methods
seemed adequate. As OMS gained more familiarity with successful interrogation,
another drawback to the use of a drug like Versed became evident. As a measure of
accountability, coercive measures were increased when detainees intentionally provided
provably false information. A detainee speaking under the influente of drugs, however,
could credibly claim ignorance of anything he had said. Y

/;

Failure to pursue the option of drug-assisted mterrogétdi‘o"ﬁ‘also spared OMS
physicians some significant ethical concerns. Throughoututs support-of the RDG
program, OMS scrupulously avoided involuntarily medlcatmg detmneeg;“ With rare
exception, detainee treatment was given only aﬁei%rst obtammg consent;jf refused, the
treatment was not given.’? Though perhaps unhkely, it w %Rossnble that soth€’ ""fdetamees
would consent to a drug-assisted interview—to ‘prove” that'tliey were not w1thholdmg
information. (This sometimes had been the case in both§police and early Agency use of
the historic truth drugs.) Whether or‘not consent was obtained, drug administration—

B
presumably by a physician—clearly would “have been an 1nv\sgy~g'procedure for non-
therapeutic reasons. . W '5\ i -

Notwithstanding th{e -actual record, in, 2003 a detalled but imaginary account was
pubhshed of Agency medlcal personnel usmg\Sodlum Pentothal on Abu Zubaydah, who
“evidently [was] the! ﬁrst to be’ given thlopental sodium.”* Remarkably, this claim was

rarely if ever repefted: - When the opportunity later presented to discuss interrogation.

techniques with a Congressxonal Committee, the Agency was asked why 1t had not used
drugs. Iheansw was that drugs don’t:work-—which is true, probably. *°

2 Odly twice had violently dlsmpnve mdm fuals been sedated—once during a rendition, and once in
detention—to,ayoid self-harm or endangerment to others. A few detainees on hunger strikes were
involuntarily feditlirough a NG tub(e but always with their assistance.

When first dlscussed the personal ethics of some of the physician staff probably would have allowed
participation in legally sénctiofied drug-assisted interrogations, as a more benign alternative to the very
aggressive approach bemg{employed. When waterboard use effectlvely ended after March 2003, the
ethical equation may well’have changed. ~
% Gerald Posner, Why America Slept: The Failure to Prevent 9/11 (New York: Random House, 2003, pp.
187-188. Posner also claimed, mcorrectly, that Zubaydah was hooked to a polygraph during this time.

¥ Several years later, a laborious review of Agency archival materials allowed a reconstruction of much of
the early record on drug-assisted interrogation, which clarified the actual practice but did not identify any
particularly useful techniques. Both barbiturates and hallucinogens seemingly had produced compliance or
useful reporting in some cases, but this was against a backdrop of confabulations or deliberate misreports.
For bureaucratic reasons as much as anything, LSD eventually displaced the conventional medical use of
barbiturates in interrogation. Given LSD’s associated medical risks and emerging societal strictures, its use
later was abandoned. Objectively, aside from ease of administration it offered no more than the
barbiturates beyond scaring some into cooperation.
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The Role of Psychologists and Psychiatrists

The AZ interrogations highlighted just how challenging the emotional context
would be, both for detaineé and those present. As a result, in mid-August 2002 MHD
began a debriefing assessment of all employees returning from detention sites, and by
month’s end was screening all those being assigned to these sites. When an interrogator
training program was begun in November, candidates first had to be evaluated by MHD.

(b)(3) NatSecAct MHD (and the OMS front office) also began quiet inquiries;into the philosophy

and operation of existing SERE programs. In early November, 2002 axSERE psychologist
assigned to the Army’s Fort Bragg program spoke to an OMSEV D|:deta1hng the
specifics of their training. The Bragg program made aggressnv ¢ of the same
techniques used against AZ (other than the waterboard) and also forced trainees into a
cold outdoor pool (even in winter). The role of the,psychologist anmhyswlan in the
SERE program was to prescreen the students for&any dlsquahfymg phym%%l;or
psychological problems, and to intervene if a. student seemed at risk or an mstructor
became too aggressive. Their judgment on these questlons was final.

At this offsite there was a lengthy discussion of the ethics of psychologlst '
involvement in interrogation programs&patticularly one mod{:led $ﬁer SERE. The
general consensus was that, given the legal rulmgs%m hand, no eth1ca1 ‘bar existed to non-
mandatory participation. The appropnate psycholeglst Iole as to assess and monitor
detainees and staff—as in.the SERE program—‘but withino'involvement in the actual

/
interrogations (unles}the psychologlst role Kad been relinquished).

This psycho]oglst role soon became a point’of tension between OMS and CTC

~ prompted by OTS advemsmg for: senior | ‘psychgfogmt/ interrogators” during the summer

and fall of 20 @Psycho]oglst/mterrogaters,were to be “operationally oriented
psycholegists who are: wﬂlmg o support the interrogations of high value targets,”
‘prov1‘(:i%psycholog1cal %dance to the interrogation team chief,” and “directly
partlcxpate in the interrogdtions.” Consxstent with this, the on-site contract
psychologlst/mterrogators SOmCtlmeS had assumed dual roles of interrogating and
assessing the ‘psycholo glcal‘stablllty of the same detainee. Similarly, the on-site OTS

© staff psyehologiﬁ%;lgg served a hybrid function—performing detainee mental status

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

assessments while #ctively contributing to the interrogation plan. OMS believed this
combination of responsibilities to be inappropriate.

The issue was partially resolved in December 2002, when RDG assumed
responsibility for the managemenE OTS did not have the manpower to
provide regular coverage, so OMS took this over. At the time and for the next three
months, no active interrogations were undertaken, so the role of the psychologist was
limited to the initial assessment of new arrivals and mental health monitoring of those in
detention. On one occasion, the OMS psychologist did bar the aggressive interrogation
of a new arrival, who he found to be too psychologically vulnerable.

27
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Egggg NatSecA Ctl , OTS still wanted to cover the highest profile cases, so when an HVD (Asadullah)

. axrived\ \2003 their psychologist (previously on-site with

AZ) arrived to provide support. When two even more important HVDs were captured -

(b)(1) and rendered ﬂcoverage problem developed. One of these was al-Qa’ida
(b)(3) NatSecAct gperations chief Khalid Shaykh Muhammed (KSM) who was to be sent on to

, The other was key al-Qa’ida financial facilitator Mustafa Ahmad al-Hasawi
'who was to stay The OTS psychologists (and an RMO) °
went with KSM and an OMS psychologist took over. respm(b) (1')11 for
(b)(1) monitoring the Hasawi mtem)gatlon With rare exception OMS: ‘handled b NatSecAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct cases thereafter. (B)3) ‘

e \'P

~

b)(1 services to from the tiime it opened in December 2002. That\ month,
(b)(3) NatSec Act coincidentally, saw publication of the Amencansychologlcal Assocnatwn s newly
evised “Ethical Principles of Psychologists and{&ade of Conduct.”* The\All_A' advised
that psychologists should “refrain” from entering ~uluglh%?’1\'elatlonshxp [with a person]
b)(1) if [this] could reasonably be expected to impair the p y\hologlst’s objectmty,
(b)(3) NatSecAct competence, or effectiveness,....or otl;grwnse risks explo or harm.””’ In partial
response to OMS bringing this to the attention of CTC . 1 Missions Division
(SMD}—under which RDG was locatedi“r—‘aadwse

OTS %and the contract psychologlst/mterrogators) provu;gfthe psychological

(b)(3) CIAACct

| (b)(B) It has been.and continues tos bef[z(\/g;:cy]'pr;gnce that the _
individual at thefinterrogation site whe administers the techmques is not
the same person who issues the psych\ologlcal assessment of record...
this respect, it%hould befibted that staff and IC psychologists who are
approved mterrogators:maycontmue ~’serve as interrogators and
physically pagticipatelin,the stration of enhanced techniques, so
long as at least one omeriggxchologlst is present who is not also serving as

a-an mterrogator and the appropriate psychological interrogation
- asgé:ssment of record\has been completed.

m-

\-.a

This guldance requxred that the psychologist who did the initial assessment not
also administer EITs but, did not preclude a psychologist from alternating between an
mterrogator/mterrogatwn’z:onsultant role and a psychological assessment role once the
initial pre- mterrogat;,on assessment was complete. This, OMS believed, was a major

' concern.
(b)(3) CIAAct ) .
(b)(6) In defending the extant practice, DSMD solicited further input from both the
psychologist/interrogators and a distinguished senior contract psychologist (already

% These were adopted in August 2002, and became effective 1 June 2003,

57 Ethical Standard 3:05 Multiple Relationships.

58 Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Actxvmes (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 40.
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working for both OMS and OTS). They jointly argued that, contrary to OMS, the Code
of Ethics provrded a relevant exemption from the warning against dual roles, “[w]hen
psychologists are requlred by law, institutional policy, or extraordmary circumstances to
serve in more than one role in judicial or administrative proceedings. »59 This exemption,
for example, allowed a prison psychologist who unexpectedly uncovered eviderice of a
serious crime while treating a prisoner to testify against the prisoner. OMS believed this
might well cover a dual role in which a psychologist did mental health monitoring of an
interrogation, and provided other clinical support to the same individual, but rejected the
notion that it possibly could extend to working both as a psychologlst and an interrogator
on the same person. ; (b)(1)
‘ g7 . (b)(3) NatSecAct
In early March, thel:OMS Regional Psychiatrist visited
and reported, “It’s clear that OTS has no real interest in acting as the‘mental health
component of the interrogation team—except as it dlrect]y applies to interrogation. They
are not supporting the team as an impartial exoge‘r%us superego that provides unbiased
clinical assessments and addresses individual and‘team 1ssues with regard tffthe
psychological process being applied to the detainee;;That would require a clear
delineation of roles.....their conflict of interest is resolVedby focusing their energles on
(b)(1) the interrogation and not on team and,§g1vrdual dynan@%

(b)(3) NatSecAct
issue at as they had at

(0)(1) OTS still did not have the stath %to coyertiie,expanding program, so in April
(b)(3 ) NatSecAct 2003 OMS took over ps‘y&hologlcal coverage, _ Thereafter OMS provided
almost all the psychologrcal sénvices to futur¢,detentionésites, supplemented periodically
by the OTS psycholog;st who had been active¥in the program from the beginning. As
(b)(1) OMS assumed mdre responsrbrhty, OMS psychologlsts and psychiatrists began to attend
(b)(3) NatSecAct (as observers) a new Agéricy. HighValue Target Interrogation training class.’ Some
visited SERE-E_I’Q%EII’HS and- e%rgsulted with.SERE psychologists. Finally, in summer
2003, tt)g,MHD psychologist Who-handled the Hasawi case was transferred full-time to
(b)(3) Cl AAct the RDG:staff, to provnde,pnmary coverage and coordinate the support of other OMS
psyésl’xolog‘rg'tbs and psychlatnsts By*2007.  |OMS psychologists and|  (b)(3) CIAAct
psychiatrists %?rowded some support to the program.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Manpower limitations finally reselverlyth

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(B) . |:SMD s.gupport for the contract psychologist/interrogators was attributable to
their being viewed as'the Agency’s most skilled and successful interrogators and .
- . indispensable to what»was emerging as the Agency’s most productive counter-terrorist
program—alone acoountmg for over half of all al-Qa’ida-related intelligence. So highly
regarded were these contractors that they commanded ready entrée to the Agency’s most

5 Et}ucal Standard 3:05 Multiple Relationships.

% Beyond its intrinsic value, this participation addressed a lingering question about OMS involvement in
the interrogation program. Amidst the January 2003 OMS-OTS tensions surrounding ethics and coverage,
OTS had announced a “requirement” that formal SERE training would be prerequisite to servmg asa
“Special Mission” psychologists. While not enforced by CTC, the lack of OMS SERE experience was a
recurring OTS theme until summer 2003.
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senior management and four times the compensation of other interrogators. Given this,

(b)(3) CIAAC_FfSMD still sought opportunities to further utilize their services as psychologists. Over

(b)(6)

the next year, this infrequently generated tasking to psychologically evaluate those they
once had interrogated. Each time OMS objected, reluctantly agreeing that the contract
psychologist/interrogators could possibly perform assessments without conflicting
interests on those with whom they had had no dealings as interrogators. The OMS
preferred solution was that these contractors choose one role or the other, not both. In
May 2004 the first Inspector General report on the interrogation and detention program
reviewed this history, noted the ¢ontinuing OMS concerns and fornally recommended a
policy that “individuals assessing the medlcal/psychologlcal efféts OBEITs may not also
be involved in the application of those techniques.”®' The nctxon of
“psychologist/interrogators” then disappeared, and the Sgﬁ contractors worked solely
on the interrogation side.” That summer the Department Fof JustiCefafter reviewing the
IG report, asked OMS if the problem had been resc_);,\*/‘é"dk and OMS ﬁnal]y could agree
that it had. ¥ 3

An early task of the OMS psychologist detailed to. RIG, was the creation of
relevant standard operating procedures (SOPs). By D&ember 2003, and with the input
of other OMS psychologists, this hadygrdg'wn into extensive guidance for psychologists
participating in the RDG program. Specifically addressed were Qualifications and
Training; Psychological Support to Interroganons/ Debneﬁng?}ts'?’andards of Care;
Guidance and Definitions For Mental Health A‘s“s"éssment of CIA Detainees (including a

VAN
- requirement for daily assessment during enhanced measures), Psychological

Disturbance; Assessment of: Long-term Functlonmg and"Mental Status; Standard
Operating Procedures for Mental Health Emergencies; PIA Interview (a pre-interrogation
face-to-face mterv1eW\assessmglpsychologlcal stablhty, mental status, resistance posture,
and suitability for enhanced measures), and even A Cable Format. An appendix addressed
“Ethical Standardsior Psycholc ggists Provadmg Support to CTC/RDG Operations,” which
was adégted from ARAY: 2002{;!;&1%1 Principles of Psychologists and Code of

Cond N -’

OM pychologlsts?nonetheless sometimes found themselves operating in a gray
zone, as they aliérnated between operational and clinical roles in supporting the program.
They assessed mental sta é‘gs and monitored psychological well-being, but also looked for
any apparent factorsiwhich would preclude the use of enhanced interrogation techniques
(e.g., ahistory of abyse or some significant psychological problem). If enhanced
measures were employed, the psychologist reassessed the detainee’s psychological state

6! Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 35, 106.

2 Eventually allowing their psychology licenses to lapse, Jessen and Mitchell launched a very successful
business—Mitchell, Jessen and Associates--which provided guards, interrogators, and debriefers to the
CTC program.

6 “Psychological and Psychiatric Support to Detainee Interrogations,” in draft, 10 December 2003. [14 pp
+ 9 pp appendix
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on a daily basis. While never recommending specific coercive measures (e.g., on the
basis of perceived vulnerabilities), they did make recommendations on positive
incentives for cooperation (e.g., playing to a narcissistic ego, or providing extra social
contact in those for whom socialization seemed exceptionally important).

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

This nonetheless was an uncomfortable, somewhat dual role. Thought was given
(b)(1) to establishing separate operational and clinical teams to handle these two dimensions,
(b)(3) NatSecAct but there never were enough resources, and with the passage of time the issue was
' resolved by the disappearance of subjects for aggressive interrogation. In 2005, the APA
. first addressed the national security context, but by then the lssu‘ﬁg\s\largely moot. (See
(b)(1) the discussion under Exposés and Ethics.) Initial psychologlcal‘ assessments of potential
(b)(3) NatSecAct candidates (most never subjected to EITs) had fallen from pjér‘l%ps Dm 2003, t
number in 2004, to about in 2005, and in Zoog%emlnees subjected to
_enhanced measures declined frommn 2003, to| 12004, and lin" 2005 After 2004, at
(b)(1) least 97-98% of the work was purely clinical, in.the form of quarterly mental health
(b)(3) NatSecAct (jipical visits—by either a psychologists or a,psychlamstq:deta@?es in as

. manyzlocatlons As a practical matter, the-dual operational- chmcal»role had all
but disappeared. ) b)(1)

(b)(1) (b)(1) : "‘ (b)(3) NatSecAct .
(b)(3) NatSecAct . (b)(3) NatSecAct o '

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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Early Mistakes

From the very outset, the detention and interrogation of High Value Targets
received extraordinary guidance and oversight, in part because of AZ’s physical
(b)(1) N condition, in part because of the legal issues surrounding aggressive interrogation, and in
(b)(3) NatSecAct part because of felt urgency in gaining the cooperation of detainees. This attention was
focused almost exclusively on the HVT facilities, mmallyz and then
(b)(1 | |andits successors. It was attentively managed by the Rendition Group,
(b)(3) NatSec. Act overseen by CTC/Legal, and had an on-site staff which variously included physicians,
psychologists, PA’s, nurses, and Agency security officers, in additionto the CTC
interrogators and debriefers. . ) ?’%

(‘V’r
Even so, this was a.work in progress, and occasronally an uithinking or
unauthorized improvisation crossed the bounds of aéf:éptablhty Wh"é%xdentlﬁed these
were immediately corrected and, if appropnate, the perpetrators dlsc1p11ned Given the
degree of oversight, this was an early and uncom{non occurrence at HVT fag‘l)tl'es and
typically occurred in the absence of the interrogation s staff; f,,'The target of seyeral of these
excesses was Nashiri, whose immaturity regularly prov&ed the staff. He again was

(b)(1) subjected, with RG approval, to stress; %posmons and sle€p. depnvatlon on arrival at
(b)(3) NatSecAct At one point, however, an mterrogator mappropnately lifted Nashiri by his
arms belted-behind his back, which was both'*p"a' 'mful and medlcally risky. The onsite PA

intervened, and the maneuver was not repeated 4 feiwmeeksdlater a debriefer, absent the
interrogation team and PA, reinstated sleep{deptivationithen tried to intimidate Nashiri
by hooding him, spinnifig the g}&gazme of a‘revolver, and starting up a power drill (albeit
not actually touchmg the detamee) These actions led to d1sc1plmary measures.

\ -

(b)(1) . Not all early Agency detamees were held in these carefully overseen RG HVT
(b)(3) NatSecAct facilities. Many:: Stispected terrorists were rounded up during military action in
\ some of potentlal\mtelh gence value. |

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Iso had no written interrogation guidelines, though early on was
granted permission to employ sleep deprivation, solitary confinement, noise, and

® Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention'and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 41-44. Nashiri also had cigar smoke blown in his face, and may
have been scrubbed with a wire brush.

(b)(1) ' -
w( )(3) NatSecAct [oroRN
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(b)(3) NatSecAct eventually standing sleep deprivation, nakedness and cold showers. As these were not

“enhanced” techniques, no medical monitoring function was specified, nor was OMS

(b)(1) adviseddo£ ]i;;errogations. When o ge;)tair};ees nexed medicalkcare, the ]PA g
assigne ) was called. This happened every week or two, largely for

(b)(3) NatSecAct entirely routine complaints. 65 Interrogators ati'eﬁ to their own devices,
sometimes improvised. These improvisations varied from unauthorized SERE techniques

(b)(1) such as smoke blown into the face, a stabilizing stick behind the knees of a kneeling

(b)(3) NatSecAct detainee, and cold showers, to undisciplined, physically aggressive “hard takedowns™ and
staged “executions” (though the latter proved too transparent a ruse).

(b)(3) NatSecAct It came about as the result of an inexperiencedslocal¥staff being left without
clear guidance, or any monitoring requirement, at a tlme of dramaty temperature change.

,(b)(1 ) The only death tied directly to the detainee programft@I %p]aee in this context at

b)(1
lblltil NatSecAct SOctober 2002, a suspected AE fghan ex mjﬂnjﬁe Gul Rahman

was captured in Pakistan, and on Novembe endered to His pnnclple

1) interrogator was psychologist/interrogator Bruce Jessen, onsite to conduct m“/depth
b)(3) NatSecAct interrogations of several recently detained al-Qa’ida op&rg{nves For a week, Rahman
steadfastly refused to cooperate despltegbemg kept naked"and subjected to cold showers
(b)(1 and sleep deprivation. Jessen was _]OII% y psychologist/interrogator Mitchell on

: ) November| || |
(B)3) NatSecAct 1 | At this time the ‘BiRvisited and found no
pressing medical problems ,;,but in view of'arécent témperature drop recommended that
(b)(1) the detainees be prov1ded wntl{ warmer clothifig (betweeif November nd  |the
(b)(3) NatSecAct low had fallen éleven degrees to about 3j1 °F).
the’ psychologst/mterrogators performed a final mental status exam on
b)(1) Rahman and recommended * ‘continual env1ronrf‘i'énta1 deprwatnons They, 1
(b)(3) NatSecAct PA, thén depa@the eveningof November| (b)( ) NatSecAct
(b)(1) *Over the next f&?days temperatures | limproved (highs up fifteen degrees

(b)(3) NatSecActSlows up nine degreg  )but Rahman’s demeanor and level of
cooperation did not. Wherijis food was delivered on the\jhe threw it, his water
bottle and his'défecation bucket at Sguards , saying he knew their faces and
(b)(1) would kill them when he @4s released. On leaming this, the Site Manager directed that
-(b)(3) NatSecAct Rahman, who wore onl'}% sweatshirt, be shackled hands and feet, with the shackles
connected by a short; #hain. As such, he was nearly immobilized sitting on the concrete

(b)(1) - floor of his cell. The temperature had again-droppe(b)(1) the preceding evening, and
(b)(3) NatSecAct (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

" Many details are in IG Report of Investigation, “Death of a Detainge in 727 April 2005.
» : ' 33
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the night Rahman was short-chained reached a low of 31°F. Although Rahman allegedly
looked okay to the guards during the night, he was dead the following morning.

An autopsy—performed bya  (P)(6) athologist f(b)(6) and
assisted by the PA to found no
trauma, toxicology, or other pathology to explain the death. On a clinical basis, the
pathologist attributed cause of death to hypothermia, consistent with the absence of
specific findings. Rahman lost body heat from his bare skin directly to the concrete ﬂoor
and was too immobilized to generate sufficient muscle activity to- keep himself alive.*®

Gul Rahman’s death triggered several internal actions, lncludmg the generation of
formal DCI guidelines on the handling and mterrogatlon of detdinees (which basically
codified existing RG practice), and the requirement that all\those participating in the
program document that they had read and underst%d I these requlrerr}égfs % The
“Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIAdPetainees” (28 January\2003) required,
among other things: documented periodic medi€a d when appropnate\'psychologlcal)
evaluations; that detainee food and drink, nutritio \d samtarygstandards not fall below a
minimally acceptable level; that clothing and/or the p p yshlcal environment be sufficient to
meet basic health needs; that there b€ sangary facilities (whlch could be a bucket); and
that there be time for exercise. The “Guijdelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to
the Presidential Memorandum of Notlﬁcanmf 17, Septemmﬂm” specified that EITs
could not be used without prior Headquarters approval must be preceded by a physical
and psychological exam, and:must be monifored by medxcal personnel Even standard
techniques (those deem&d not¢Rincorporate’s S gmﬁcant physxcal or psychological
pressure) required prx%; approval ‘whenever feasnble These standard techniques were
described as 1ncluﬁ|-r$sleep depnvatlon (up to? ‘7;,hours, reduced to 48 hours in Dec
2003), dxapermg (generall)%’&tftoxceZ hours), reduced caloric intake (still adequate
to mamtamggeneral’hcalth) U

l tion, loudtmusic or white noise, and denial of reading

materlal > =N
(* T .

’ %ﬁdmons and Detamees Gr up (RDG, the renamed RG) in December was given
responsxblht);‘for overmght\ Coincident with this, OMS took over
psychologist Coverage there whlch began with the assessment of some Ddetainees then
on site. The PA also began monthly cable summaries of detainee phys1cal health.

/
The dehberate use of temperature extremes as part of the interrogation process
eventually became an accepted fact in press coverage of the Agency program. These

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

7 “Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees” (28 January 2003)

(b)(1)
”@[(b)@) NatSecAct IHioFORN
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accounts began in March 2003 with an error-filled, though widely cited New York Times
piece on interrogation techniques, which included an alleged account of the interrogation
at Bagram Air Base of Al-Qa’ida facilitator al-Farouq the previous summer: “[A]
western intelligence official described Mr. Faruq’s interrogation as ‘not quite torture, but *
about as close as you can get.” The official said that over a three-month period, the
suspect was fed very little, while being subjected to sleep and light deprivation,
prolonged isolation and room temperatures that varied from 100 degrees to 10 degrees.
In the end he began to cooperate.”’® Perhaps because the imagined temperature range
was not deemed credible, this claim was not soon repeated. iy )

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(6) ’

The only time deliberate mampulatlon of cell tértijjéature was proposed for an
RDG detainee came w1th the\g’apture of Khah Sheik Mohammed, the most important
HVT yet taken. Th#e*ugh not part of DCI gmdance “uncomfortably cool temperatures”
were included in the submitted mterrogatlon plan, Reading this, and in view of the recent
Gul Rahman experience, OMS~sent the. attendmg medical staff some reference material,

- including WH@')'"?' commen%’e"d amblent temperature ranges (no lower than 64°), optimal

temperatures (78 clotheq 86° unclothed), and the “thermoneutra] zone” (68-86°) below

- Wthh ambient temperdtiize momto&ng was necessary.”” Were a deliberately cool space

to be use¢%e lower limit ' was 55°#and any confinement between 55-60° limited to 2-3
hours unless the detainee was free to move around or sit on a protective mat. Below an
amblent temperature of 6;detmnem were to be monitored for hypothermia.
o

|:|CTC soon%spec'iﬁed that detention cells be maintajned between 75-78°.
Eventually, in June 2004, a DO review of the program noted that “uncomfortably cool
temperatures” have. “not been used as part of CTC’s interrogation program,” and

. ]

™ “Questioning Terror Suspects in a Dark and Surreal World,” New York Times, 9 March 2003. This also

was one of the early articles to charge that the Agency withheld painkillers from Zubaydah.

(b)(1)

(b)(3) NatSecAct
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recommended that such be deleted from the list of interrogation techniques.”* OMS
personnel confirm that temperature manipulation never became part of the RDG program,’
and that no RDG detainee was exposed to extreme temperatures. When the 14 remaining
HVDs were transferred to Guantanamo in 2006, most reported to the ICRC that initially
they were held in’ cold rooms. Their perception of “cold” was primarily a reﬂectlon of
personal comfort levels, and not the actual ambient temperature.

" Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, “Review of CIA Detainee Program in Response to DCI
Query,” 30 June 2004.

zopsecrer// (O)(1) /MGEORY,
H( )(3) NatSecAct ‘
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KSM and the Waterboard
The 1 August 2002 Dol approval letter had characterized the SERE waterboard
process, as follows:

“...once the cloth is saturated and completely covers the mouth
. and nose, air flow is slightly restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the

' presence of the cloth . [This] produces the perception of ‘suffocation and
incipient panic,’ i.e., the perception of drowning. The indiyidual does not
breathe any water into his lungs. During those 20-40 sec'%nds, ‘water is
continuously applied from a height of twelve to twenty-four inches. After
this period, the cloth is lifted and the individual 1%%wed to. breathe for
three or four full breaths. .. The procedure may, then‘.be repeated

More broadly DoJ wrote that their generalexpectanon was that “repetmon [of any
technique, not just the waterboard] will not befgl}stantlal because the techmqueg
generally lose their effectiveness after several treatménts é” Ohthe questronfo/f safety,
DoJ had written, “You have informed us your on- s1te‘psychologlsts who have extensive
experience with the use of the waterboard in Navy trainingihave not encountered any
significant long-term consequences fromlts~use ” Separatel?"@MS heard from CTC that
most SERE programs had dropped the waterbo”ard because it  had proven impossible to
resist. OTS considered it the most cntrca] element in the program—a pomt OMS later
learhed, explicitly made to DoJ S

Subsequent 46} he AZ in errogatrons, ®MS leamed from medical personnel
present at the time thatiifio
sometimes quickly repeateg; thswas tht ‘there had been about 30- 40 significant
apphcatlo?j/ (““IG review. %l butone Sessions, counting applications as brief as two
secondsfound a total@.f&l exposures, albeit with only three as long as the 20-second
SERE; mlmmum %) During themph%anons a significant amount of water entered
AZ’s mouth and oropharynx leading him to swallow as much as he could, and provoking
an occasional bout of vomrtmg Durmg the second-to-last waterboard session (the
twentieth), AZ"’:';"ppeared brleﬂy unresponsive, with his open mouth full of water. The
interrogator nghted him _%'nd applied a xyphoid thrust, with AZ coughing out a copious
amount of liquid. 'I‘l}lg,;,eplsode from application to cough, lasted only 8 seconds, and

75 Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 36. On average there were 4 applications per session, with a range
of 1-11 and an average application lasting 9 seconds. Twenty-two applications were at least 10 seconds
long, but only 3 reached the SERE minimum threshold of 20 seconds. In his 2006 account of this
experience to the ICRC AZ stated that when the water was poured he could not breath for “a few minutes”

" until the bed was rotated into an upright position; and that he had five waterboard sessions of 1-2
applications, and one of 3 applications. He singled out the straps “on my wounds” which attached him to
the waterboard as causing severe pain, but in fact the straps were carefully placed to avoid the wounds.

37
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there were no apparent aftereffects. A final session of two brief water applications two
days later was accomplished without further problems.

While the experience with AZ supplemented the sparse information available
from the DoJ approval letter, it was not apparent to OMS that the AZ applications
departed appreciably from the SERE technique. There were questions about the typical
number of applications used in SERE, and whether AZ’s brief “spel]” was unusual,
which seemed worth investigating. That winter OMS sought information directly from -
medical personnel in the Army and Navy SERE programs, ostensibly researchmg options
for an Agency-run training program. Although limited by what; coulivbe- ‘discussed on the
phone and slowed by travel schedules, OMS eventually learn that Agency waterboard
technique differed substantially from that of the Navy program (the, only one in whichthe
waterboard was still used).

The waterboard experience was mandatg;y for all Navy SERE t a‘l\/jng and
monitoring staff, but fewer than half their trainées*were put‘on the board. Mo3tof those
who were received only a single application of 20- 30 seconds~ and no one hﬁ% more than
two applications. Water was applied primarily to therggger lip where it saturated a cloth
being lowered over the nose and mouth; little if any water passed through the cloth into
the mouth. The goal wasn’t to “break’k eagtudents but rathgito highlight a SERE
teaching point that things always could get warse; and to encotitage (rather than force)
reasonable countermeasures. As used w1thm the program, the'waterboard had proven to
be very safe; complications. among their prescreened students were extremely rare, and

. short-lived. ¢ emadtes »»,\ .
(b)(1) g
(b)(3) NatSecAct .This emerging> understandmg coincidedi¥jith the capture and initial interrogation
of terrorist Khalid Shaykh Muham\m‘ed,,mastenmnd of the 9-11 attacks, operations chief
of al-Qa’ida, dfidfihquestionably the fiumber-three man in its hierarchy. He had been
(b)(1) on M?lrch 1 If anyone
(b)(3) NatSecAct knew of 1rnmment al- Qa{mg attacks, dt-was “KSM.”

Phibe)
vTh' RMO had been (b)(1) since February, to provide

(b)(1) general mediaFsupport to detamees the(b)(3) NatSecActnterrogation of high value
(0)(3) NatSecAct terrorist AsadullalghHis mtake exam of KSM revealed an obese 38-year-old, with no
o significant medical 'problems but who was demanding and narcissistic and refused both
(b)(1) food and liquids. Cg%dering the rejection of fluids unsafe, the RMO administered a tap
(b)(3) N atSecAct Water enema, following which KSM discontinued his fast. After several days of

unsuccessful interrogation (involving most measures other than confinement box and

waterboard), KSM was transferred‘ Mith the RMO

(b)(1) )
(b)(3) NatSecAct 2¢CCMPANYINg

By this time OMS had begun to dssemble a guide for' medical personnel
supporting the interrogation program, which brought together and expanded on material
previously sent to the field. A working draft section on the waterboard reflected both the

. 38
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experience to date and what had been learned from the Navy. One goal of this section -

. was to insure that physicians monitoring the waterboard not be misled by previously
issued SERE-based reassurances—so differences between the SERE approach and that of
the Agency were spelled out in detail.

One or two applications safely given to thousands of trainees said something
about risk, but AZ was the only multiple-application case known to us. He may have had
a period of non-responsiveness, so a limit on the number of applications probably was in
order. The provisional thinking was that, absent any emerging medical problems, 2-3
sessions of 2-3 applications per day probably was medically safe during the first 2-4
days, but that special attention probably was necessary aﬁ%that» An upper limit of 20
applications in a week was considered, but as “it [was] hafd to 1rggg1ne an operational
argument for continuing {the waterboard] after that de7gree f failéd’ greatments” it was
thought that such a high number “may well be moot it \@%

" To assist with future reviews, RMOs momtormg the waterboard v}ere to";epon all
waterboard sessions in detail. This was to include the length of - applications?volume
applied, whether water entered the naso- or orophari'nx Awhether a seal was achieved, and
the interval between applications. Abgut March 11 thlS -In-process “OMS Guidelines
on Medical and Psychological Su ort‘to Bet:i' '-)Aa )nterrogatmns was sent informally to
the RMO and PA on-site at hd th« - paar- 3 glated to travel there.

(b)(3) NatSecAct
Meanwhile, KSMZ’§ -nterrogation had lggsumed nt]ong after his transfer to
and on MECh 10 hé: was first subjécted to thé'waterboard (5 applications). As

with AZ, the interrggation was handled by psyghologist/interrogators Jessen and
Mitchell, and monitored by the ®TS psychologlsﬂwho had worked with AZ. Two days
later, the waterboard again'was. 'used,;but this time with an intensity far exceeding
anything i in.the p%v In five sgsasrnons §panning a 24-hour period, the waterboard was
apphed over 80 times; - almost h@!,t;_lhastmg 20-40 seconds. OMS first learned of this from
the §M@ .who was seemg-the waterboard used for the first time. He had repeatedly re-
exammed KSM throughout this penod and was struck by how well KSM had withstood
the expenen%g’\ \u-%

A | .
On recenptigf\ghe:@e_ reportsE(MS went to| 5M to report that OMS thought that
extent of waterboard usage was both excessive and pointless. OMS also doubted that
repetitive applicatior'lds‘r}ylad a cumulative effect, as sleep deprivation unquestionably did,
and later followed up with a note to CTC/LGL saying that while we believed “the
unpleasantness/discomfort of the [waterboard] process indeed would persist [through
multiple applications], perhaps to the point of becoming intolerable;” any detainee

7 Our expectation remained that the waterboard would prove irresistible, were information actually being
withheld. Our draft text included the observation that “[i}t would appear that subjects cannot maintain
?sychologlcal resistance to this technique more than a few days, at most”

As precautions, the RMO had monitored KSM’s blood oxygen with a pulse oximeter, and required that
saline be alternated with water, to avoid water intoxication.

(b)(1)
m’ﬂ[(b)@) NatSecAct /HOPORN
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uncertainty about what was happening “certainly would diminish with ldentlcal
repetitions of the same process—the novelty and initial shock having worn off.””’
essence, once a detainee was aware that he could withstand the waterboard, it was ]llSt a
matter of whether he wanted to continue to put up with the traumatic experience.

(b)(6) After the MS visit, RDG sent a cable suggesting that KSM’s interrogation
rely less exclusively on the waterboard. Standing sleep deprivation was begun, and
intermittent water dousing. Two days later KSM again was subjected to the waterboard,
though at a far reduced level. Over the following week he had a total of nine waterboard
sessions, involving about 90 discrete applications, nearly half’ lastmg" 20-40 seconds. By
the time the waterboard was finally discontinued, on March/24‘ KSM had experienced
over 180 applications, about 40% of which were at least 20’seconds long. This was twice
the number of exposures expenenced by AZ, and the apphcatlons hgd~averaged twice as
long (18 seconds vice 9).” \%

KSM had early developed reasonablyetfective coﬁ\ntermeasures, h’i‘!e( tﬁiﬁg from
the side of his mouth, holding his breath, and swallowing y6liminous quantities of water.
The interrogators dealt with this by dramatically i mcreasmg the water volume, timing
applications to coincide with explratxon generatmg startle %sgexes by splashing cold
water on his chest and abdomen, holdmga is. ] ps and ultimately eyen creating a small
reservoir of water directly over his mouth Remarkably KSM\showed no signs of a
physical impact during any point in this ordeal "Aswith AZ, Ke developed a few
abrasions on his lower lcgs!strugghng agalr}st,the resf‘fggfmg belts, but this problem was
remedied through adjustment”of the straps and treatment of the abrasions.

When the ﬁnai&ersnon of the OMS Guxdehnes was distributed on Apnl 1% it

detailed appropnate medw%ecw&ons,, and retained an explicit juxtaposition of the
SERE waterboard"techmque and expenence with that of the Agency. While no specific
limits wer€ set on apphcatmns per.session, it was observed that as many as 25 -
apphcatlons probably would be éﬁ%?dunng the first week, but thereafter only sporadic
waterboai?d use would be acceptable

(b)(3) CIAAct By thl‘ﬁlme OMS was convinced that the Agency had been poorly served by

(b)(6) shallow research on shthe waterboard and its purported irresistibility. Additionally, OMS
(and the Inspector General) heard that rather than having “extensive” experience, neither
of the two psychologx'gyts/mterrogators previously had used the waterboard; and that only

(b)(3) CIAAct one had even seen it in use. This was consistent with their having worked in the Air

(b)(6)

7s[hvls tDCTC/LGL 28 March 2003, responding to a cable critique of the proposed OMS
b)(1 Guidelines on the waterboard, which the RMO had shared with ersonnel. The interrogators
(b)(1) asserted that the waterboard had been selected specifically because it did not lose effectiveness with

(b)(3) NatSecAct repetitions, and that they knew of no evidence that effectiveness was loss.
™ In late 2006 KSM reported to the ICRC that water had been poured onto a cloth by one of the guards
(b)(1) “so that I could not breathe” and that “[t]his obviously could only be done for one or two minutes at a
time.” He remembered the process being repeated for about an hour.

(b)(3) NatSecAct 40
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Force SERE program, which had not used the waterboard for years, and seemed to
explain the wide disparity between their methodology (number of repetitions, length of
applications, volume of water,*’ and technique) and that described to us by the Navy. In
essence, the experience with AZ and KSM had been little more than an amateurish

" experiment, with no reason _ét the outset to believe it would either be safe or effective.®!

‘ r

" Some within the RDG leadership agreed with OMS on this point, and with the
view that the value of the waterboard was vastly overstated; others thought the
waterboard was key to the success of the two most important intertpgations in a
dramatically successful program. In fact, after his period of %’gnced interrogation, AZ .
was a remarkable intelligence resource. As “the professor, éféprowded a veritable
encyclopedia of useful material. Later he attributed his coopcrauon to various factors,
including an interrogation of such severity that it allowed‘lum to rat@ahze cooperation
to Allah. (He also once said he cooperated because of the. medical café given “to an
enemy”—like his mother would have done. He believed the medical staﬁ’\“at least twice
had saved his life, though noted this had denied’him martyrdom ) ‘ 'w“

RN
In practlce, however, AZ’s cooperation did notfcorrelate that well w1th his

waterboard sessions. Only when questioning changed to subjects on which he had
information (toward the end of waterbo ‘gd&usage) was he fog:&hcommg A
psychologist/interrogator later said that waterboard use had eStablished that AZ had no
further information on imminent threats—a creative but. circular justification. In
retrospect OMS thought AZ probably reac &he point’ offcooperatxon even prior to the
August institution of “enhanced s measures—sa development missed because of the
narrow focus of questxomng In any event, there was no evidence that the waterboard

produced time-perishabie information which omwlse would have been unobtainable.®

AN

KSM had proven mich more re5111ent than his soft appearance suggested even
during the period of most intense waterboard use. He figured out early that, however
unpleasant the waterboard’ expenencewnt wasn’t going to get any worse, and he knew he

o

8 An average% “five gallons peris*essmn was used on KSM, some being splashed on his chest and
abdomen. Thls was about five times the volume allowed in a SERE session (which also included splash,
but was delivered ita single application).

8! This OMS view was well kn§wn through it’s inclusion in the final May 2004 Inspector General Report:
“According fo the Chleftﬁedxcal ‘Services, OMS was neither consulted nor involved in the initial analysis
of the risk and benefits of EITs, nor provided withthe OTS report cited in the OLC opinion. In retrospect,
based on the OLC extracts of the OTS report, OMS contends that the reported sophistication of the
preliminary EIT review was exaggerated, at least as it related to the waterboard, and that the power of this
EIT was appreciably overstated in the report. Furthermore, OMS contends that the expertise of the SERE
psychologist/interrogators on the waterboard was probably misrepresented at the time, as the SERE
waterboard experience is so different from the subsequent Agency usage as to make it almost irrelevant.
Consequently, according to OMS, there was no a priori reason to believe that applying the waterboard with
the frequency or intensity with which it was used by the psychologist/interrogators was either efficacious or
medially safe.” OMS also thought it inappropriate that the only interrogators authorized to use the
waterboard were judging its effectiveness. .

%2 By the time AZ’s exposure to the waterboard ended, he had been in detention almost five months.

: (b)(1) -
w(b)@) NatSecAct [NoroRN
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~ could handle that. (AZ also seemed to be aware that he wasn’t going to be allowed to

injure himself on the waterboard, but was more emotional about the experience.)
Ultimately it was 6% days of standing sleep deprivation (extending a day past the final
use of the waterboard) that led KSM to lose his composure and begin to cooperate.
Thereafter, he too became a font of useful intelligence. The extensive waterboard use
conceivably contributed to this, but it did not seem so to the medical personnel. If -
anything, the RMO thought KSM more steeled and recalcitrant just before and after the
treatments, which also provided periodic relief from his standing sleep deprivation.

An Agency Inspector General study of the detention m}&oganm program
‘was ongoing at the time of KSM’s interrogation, and when 1ssued in 2004 closely
mirrored the OMS perspective. Agency waterboard use “went beyond the projected use
of the technique as originally described to DoJ.” % In.all three ca}@\ [ tThe waterboard’s
use was accelerated after the limited application of ther EITs. . .beca w"’%‘rthe waterboard
was considered by some in Agency management {o be the ‘silver bulle‘t\ c%rgpmed with
the belief that each of the three detainees possessed pcnsh le information bo‘lf{
imminent threats against the United States.” The' IG hoted‘that, AZ did prov,;de more
intelligence after being subjected to the waterboard, but said it was unclear whether
another factor was at play. “In KhalidyShaykh Muhammad’s case, the waterboard was
determined to be of limited effectiven Ine could conclu@g‘that sleep deprivation was
effective in this case, but a definitive con c]umqn,ls hard to reach.Considering the lengthy
sleep deprivation followed extensive use of the wat board. ”4

Several of the OMS concems were adgressed by DG in the months following
the KSM 1nterrogat10n Dol, s%or White House officials, selected NSC principals, and
the leadershlp of the Gengressmnal Oversight Gomimittees were all briefed on the

Agency’s “expanded” use, of E Tsﬁ, 1nc]udmg t.he waterboard and DoJ advised that from

\ i
In mld-May ZO@JUSt o%‘3 -fhonths after the waterboard was used on KSM,
the Nevs York Times carriegythe ﬁrst published reference to Agency waterboard use. 8
The contexXttwas the publication just a few weeks earlier of photos of Iraqi prisoners
. being abused at;Abu Ghraib prison. The Times article, based on information from
_sources with 1mperfect kngWledge (who again alleged the w1thhold1ng of pain

N

% Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 5.
¥ Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 90-91. One of the SERE psychologists also had explained that the
“Agency’s technique is different because it is ‘for real’ and is more poignant and convincing.” (Office of
the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 —
t October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 357.

Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detennon and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 23-24.

86 “Harsh C.1A. Methods Cited in Top Qaeda Interrogations,” New York Times, 13 May 2004.
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medication), also correctly reported that Agency interrogation techniques were drawn
from a military training program (unnamed), had been endorsed by the Justice
Department, and used “graduated levels of force, including a technique known as ‘water
boarding.” Less accurately, waterboarding was said to involve a prisoner being
“strapped down, forcibly pushed under water and made to believe he might drown.”

This article, and a June 2004 Washington Post article on Dol’s narrow 2002
definition of torture,’ ushered in an avalanche of press and editorial attention to
interrogation techniques, which increasingly were labeled as “torture ” The waterboard
quickly became the symbol of Agency torture. Within the Agen’éy, tRe waterboard was
recognized as being in a category by itself—being the sole EIT deSIgnated “Level 27—
but, armed with the DoJ interpretation, both the Agency z and 4 White,;House continued to
deny that Agency detainees had been tortured. Fa A'g{\th unrelcntmg criticism, the
White House and DoJ soon announced that the August 2002 gmdanceawas being
redrafted. Pending thls the press reported, the K had put its harsh tactlcs on hold 8

In practice no one had been subjected to t waterboard since KSM, f'/:i no new
HVD taken into custody since the spring 2004 medlagr!aep“‘o!ns It wasn’t so much that
“harsh” tactics were on hold, as that there were no new candldates for enhanced

(b)(1) interrogation. This changed at the end\omxly, when Janat ‘Gl

(b)(3) NatSecAct \ —-"vT'as transferr;zé ;t67A gency custody. An al-
Qa’ida facilitator, Gul was believed knowledgeableeabout plots timed to coincide with the
November 2004 Presidential Elections; he‘?mmedlately -was approved for a range of
enhanced measures, thoughm%e,waterboard Some s&nior managers still believed the
waterboard might nofietheless be useful, so the&Agency asked Justice to re-evaluate its
use in this specifi¢ case.’

On Apgisis, 2004 ‘that they considered it “a close and difficult
quesnon > but concluded that subjectmg Gul to the waterboard “outside territory subject
to Uniféd States jurisdiction wouldinot<violate any United States statute. .., nor would it
violate the United States Constltutlon or any treaty obligation of the Unlted States.” This
judgment was*condmonal afiphysician and psychologist pre-evaluation and continued
monitoring, ands=on the basis of new RDG guidance—waterboard use being limited to
no more than two 2-hr waterboard sessions per day, with the total time of actual

%7 “Memo Offered Justification for Use of Torture,” Washington Post, 8 June 2004. DoJ guidance had been
alluded to, without specifics, as early as an 11 May 2004 Washington Post article, Secret World of U.S.

Iriterrogatlons and subsequentl dlscussed m the New York Times, Newsweek and The Wall Street
Journal.

L (b)( ) NatSecAct

“Document on Prison Tactics Disavowed,” Associated Press, 23 June 2004; “Justice Dept. Rewrites
Prison Advice, *“ Associated Press, 24 June 2004; “CIA Puts Harsh Tactics on Hold,” Washington Post, 27

June 2004.
rep—sperpz,/ | (P)(1) NOFORN
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applications dunng the day not exceeding 20 minutes. There were to be no more than 15
days of use, during a maximized authorized period of 30 days.

r

‘On seeing the DoJ memo, OMS advised RDG that the new limits still posed
potential medical risks. Accordingly, MS and| RDG jointly revised the allowable
exposures downward, further reducing the number of days during which the waterboard
could be used by two-thirds, and the time allowable for applications per 24-hours from 20
minutes to 12.3° DoJ was advised of these reductions, and incorporated them into a later
approval. As previously, the primary OMS area of responsnbxhty%as safety and not
value or effectiveness. Neither OMS nor many in RDG belieyed’eveidpthis reduced level

- was operationally necessary. In extraordinarily resistant case‘s"’ﬁws believed that at
most a single “warning” session of 2-3 applications—perhaps relgbeated once, at week

later—might be tried if critical, urgent information was, involved, bilReven then other
AN
measures would be preferable. PR

Janat Gul proved less important than hoped\ 0 mterrogators never ‘e%ted to
use the waterboard. Had they done so, the on-site’ physxclan‘hkely would ha¥e barred its
use. At about age 40, Gul weighed 280 pounds (at a helght of 6 feet) and was sufficiently
thick-necked and out-of-shape that aniyresulting medical emergency could not easily
have been treated.® w

., "{' i

The May 2004 Inspector General report‘:m?f&nng the uncertainty about the
effectiveness and necessnty of, md1v1dua1 EITs rmally e mmended that the DDO,
together with OMS, D§&T and OGC, “conduct a review of the effectiveness of each of
the authorized EITs and make 2 ‘determination ‘regarding the necessity for the continued
use of each, mcludmg‘the requ1red scope and duration of each technique. "1 Outside
representation was to be included;on® the erlew eamn.

A s e

An mdlrect response to thls recommendatlon came in an in-depth DO review of
the CIA Detainee Program completed;m June 2004, which was to have included an
assessmient of “the effectlve.%ess ofeach interrogation technique and environmental
depnvatlon @At that time @MS advised that it did not have sufficient outcome data to
make this asses%ent and that were the data provided there needed to be some written

'

8 No more than 6 applications of ten seconds or more were to be allowed in a session, and no more than
12 total minutes of application; no more than two sessions were allowed in a 24-hour period; and no more
than five days of waterboard use in the 30-day period during which the waterboard was authorized.
% No one in the SERE program was known to have experienced a laryngospasm, but this always was
OMS’ most serious concern. If needed, emergency intubation or a tracheostomy would have been very
difficult in this case.
%! Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 8

44

\

-zop _secrer// (0)(1) /NOFORN
’—{( )(3) NatSecAct

Approved for Release: 2018/08/13 C06541727



C06541727

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(B)

) CIAAct

DWW
~

CIAAct

(b)(1)

(b)(3) ; ; : :
(b)(3) NatSecAct state and then take advantage of the opening to further manipulate the detainee. In many cases, coercive
(b)(6) '

Case 18-2265, Document 55-4, 11/14/2018, 2434171, Page40 of 52

JA-302

Approved for Release: 2018/08/13 C06541727
(b)(3) NatsecAct

FOP—SECRET/ JNOFORN/ /MR

(b)(3) NatSecAct

assurance that a “study” of this sort would not violate Federal law against experimenting
. on prisoners.

When the Inspector General continued to press for a'study, RDG proposed in
early 2005 that an internal review be undertaken by a small team composed of a senior
person from the Counter Intelligence Center, the recently retired| Medical Services, and
possibly a psychiatrist. At the time there had been only twenty-nine enhanced
interrogation cases, so the analysis—now considered ‘“‘quality control” rather than human
subjects research—would be rather limited. Nonetheless, insightsgwere considered likely
to emerge. “EITs consistently associated with success likely A\é}] e évident; those of
questionable success also may be evident (e.g., in cases whereasecond EIT of more
consistent success always has been concurrently present); - *At the}least, the record will
allow a more data-based assessment of the original assgmp,gons extrapolated from the
military training programs, and allow some determmatxon as to whethénthe expectations
regarding specific EITs in fact were realized.”” The unstated goal was'to ob_]ectlvely
evaluate whether the waterboard had made any positive contribution to the’t ‘program.

G P 4

« In part to undermine the notion that md1v1dual @enogatlon techniques could be

studied, psychologist/interrogators Jessen and Mltchell provided an instructive overview

of “interrogation and coercive physical pressures “ Refusal to provide intelligence, they
wrote, “is not overcome through the use of this physzcal techm%z'gto obtain that
effect...independent of the other forces atwork. Such tlunklng 'led some people not
involved in the actual Progess ( of interrogatonzto believe it the relative contribution of
individual mterrogatlo tecliniques can be teased out and quantified....” [emphasis in

p. 24

original] Their woxk :as mterroggors was sald to be far more comphcated

AL s

..the choice of’ wh:chfphysxcal techmques if any, to use is driven by an
md1v1dua11y tallored interrogationtplait and by a real-time assessment of
th%ﬁetaxﬁ?e s“’s"t\rengths wweaknesses and reactions to what is happening.
“Th this process,\a smgle physical interrogation technique is almost never

\cmployed in isolation from other techniques and influence strategies,
many of which are not coercwe Rather, multiple techniques are

PN
dehberately orchestrated and sequenced as a means for inducing an
unw111mg del:ame,%'to actively seek a solution to his current predicament,
and thus workkuh the 1nterrogator who has been responding in a firm, but
fair and predlctable way.”’

) NatSecAct 92 Memorandum for lfeputy Director of Operations, “Review of CIA Detainee Program in Response to DCI

Query,” 30 June 2004.

9 “Study Proposal” attached to Lotus Note, to 24 Febraury 2005.

%4 James E. Mitchell, Ph.D. and John B. Jessen, Ph.D., “Interrogation and Coercive Physical Pressures: A
Quick Overview,” February 2005. This apparently is a derivative of a paper preparedat the time of the
June 2004 DO review, “Using Coercive Pressure in Interrogation of High Value Targets.”

9 They continue: “As in all cases of exploitation, the interrogator seeks to induce an exploitable mental
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Missing from this perspective was any question about just how many elements -
were necessary for a successful “orchestration.” The assumption was that a gifted
interrogator would know best; and the implicit message was that this art form could not
be objectively analyzed. Indeed, by this time their methodology was more nuanced, in
stark contrast to the rapid escalation and indiscriminate repetitions of early interrogations.
Still, there remained a need to look more objectively for the least intrusive way to gain
cooperation.

Ultimately the Inspector General departed from the onglﬂﬁecommendahon in
favor of an entirely “outside” review, by a “blue ribbon” panel of individuals of some
political prominence. In the wake of Abu Ghraib, and in.the conteétl of intense media
attention, suitable and willing candidates were not eazlly 6btained ¥Eventually John
Hamre, Deputy Defense Secretary in the Clinton Administration, and Gardner Peckham,
an advisor to then House Speaker Newt Gingrich;"agreed to undertake a’ pnmanly
interview-based review. Without the requisite backgroundsfor the prev1ouslysplanned
technical analysis, their task became a relatively brodd,reviéw of overall program
effectiveness. The

In separate final reports, Peckhi@®ind Hamre botﬁ%dorsed the RDG program,
but differed on the question of interrogation techniques. Peckham noted that the
Inspector General’s principal concern was*the waterfoard, for‘which it thought there
were equally viable alternatives; that RDG'did niot consider the waterboard effective, and
“contended that use of the wate}board on lesser AQ [al-Qa’ida] operatives [than AZ and
KSM] would not necessanly produce more or better intelligence;” and that “OMS is
candid in its discomfoH with this technique.” He;then concluded:

“It 1stoss1t§%t‘hat othér, tem%gld be as effective as the

waterboard, ‘but that has ‘not been demonstrated. Until it is, Ibeheve that

;th,e waterboard shggzd contjnue-to be available in the EIT arsenal.” %

A W

Ha%e ‘was less definitive. Noting that there was no objective yardstick by which
to judge EIT eﬂ‘ectlveness,;he concluded that “the data does suggest that EITs, when
incorporated into a.comprehensive program based on sound underlying intelligence and
analysis, did provide useful intelligence products.” However, “there is no objective

v

interrogation techniques are used initially to induce a sense of despair, but then discontinued when the
detainee seeks to find a way out of his current predicament and becomes susceptible to other influence
techniques. Interrogators then offer the detainee hope, and subsequently exploit this hope for intelligence
purposes. In other words, physical techniques, if used, are most effective when employed to create an
exploitable state of mind, rather than force rote compliance™
9 Gardner Peckham to DCI Porter Goss, “Assessment of EITs Effectiveness,” 2 September 2005.
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independent basis to assess when EITs other than conditioning EITs [sleep deprivation,
dietary manipulation) are requlred

The August 2004 DoJ opinion on using the waterboard on Janat Gul coincided
with a much more extensive review of the legality of nearly all interrogation techniques
requested by the Agency in the wake of Abu Graib and ‘associated Presidential

_ statements. As part of this review, Justice attorneys held extensive sessions with OMS,

and requested and were provided with written OMS critiques prepared for the May 2004
Inspector General report. This DoJ review (discussed below) spanned almost a full year,
and culminated in May 2005 memoranda that in essence reafﬁnﬁhmr 2002 ruling
(including the legality of the waterboard). Unlike 2002, thisg aemorandum relied heavily
and explicitly on OMS input, and underscored as never bejore anfmdxspensable OMS role

in legitimizing the program.
M e,

Within weeks of receipt of the May 2005 EOJ opinion, another possxble candidate

o

(b)(3) NatSecAct for the waterboard presented. This was Abu FaraJ al-Libi aptited by the

Pakistanis and transferred to the Agency in May 2005, _Initially believed one’of the most
senior al-Qa’ida leaders, Faraj twice was subjected to penods of enhanced interrogation
measures, with seemingly limited success. When the poss:bxhty of waterboard use then
was raised, OMS advised RDG that it W0, °’ulckggrt1c1pate only(‘lf there was real evidence
"that he had critical, time perishable mformatmn This quicklyled to a rumor that Medical
was withdrawing support from the program, WthhSﬁ’Oﬂ ‘reached senior Agency
management.| [MS (since Qctober 2004, @B) fwas ;?q't?c’s’led to explain the OMS
position to the Agency3 SfDﬁector of Support (DS). DS asked whether it would be
sufficient if OGC and»DO assured OMS that waterboard use was warranted; the answer’
was no: OMS would have o heSFthe evidence'di éctly.”® A definitive impasse was never
reached, however, because semg?’Agency management decided that in this case the

o3

waterboardWash

&Earaj al-Libi probably marksjthé final consideration of waterboard use. With the
passage ofithe Detainee Treatment Act of 2005, “Military Commissions Act” of 2006,
and apphcanonof Common#Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions, the Agency again
asked DOJ for@ruling on the legality of several enhanced interrogation measures. The
waterboard was not on thefnewly proposed list, and it is unlikely to be on any future
request. The Mxhtommlsswns Act (discussed below) made 111egal any interrogation
techniques that caus“senous” pain and suffering (vice “severe, prev1ously) While
the case may be arguable, the waterboard may not have survived that test.”®

%7 John Hamre to DCI Porter Goss, “Response to request from Director for Assessment of EIT
effectiveness,” 25 September 2005

% OMS did not think the case was there. Abu Faraj was belicved once to have known the whereabouts of
Osama bin Ladin and al-Zawahiri. Given his publicly announced capture many weeks before, any
information he held no longer seemed perishable.

% A different type of waterboard discussion may continue. The three HVDs subjected to the waterboard
were interviewed by the ICRC after their transfer to Guantanamo. Their stories were highlighted in the
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The waterboard, despite its role as a symbol of Agency torture, did not prove as
psychologically overwhelming as received SERE wisdom indicated, and it certainly was
not irresistible—even in the face of a more aggressive, invasive, and potentially
dangerous Agency methodology than used in SERE. It also was not intrinsically painful.
There must have been physical discomfort from the occasional associated retching, but
both AZ and KSM complained to the ICRC only of the pain of the restraining straps.
Even the retching would have been eliminated had true SERE technique been employed.
In short, the waterboard was primarily a psychological measure. That said, had the true
limits of SERE use been known to OMS at the outset, its application‘'would have been
limited to a few (ineffective) applications, leaving some to beheve that more applications
would achieve the goal. Even very limited used may not have avmded the devastating

T,
£

As previously noted, an unrealistic expectafron that waterboard appllcatlons
would eventually “succeed” informed the DoJguidance, and underpinned its*€xXtensive
use with AZ and KSM. Though not a medical question, per‘se; OMS cameo believe that
the waterboard’s impact as an interrogation tool wasjust ‘Jthe opposite. The waterboard
experience was miserable but the effect not necessarily cuihulative (as was sleep
deprivation). Once the shock of the initial applications had passed KSM knew what was
coming and developed coping strategies; aftefsd-many apphcatlons he also had no
reason to believe anything worse was likély to follow. In essence less coercive measures
were likely to produce p%spable information at least as;,qulckly To OMS this
undermined the legal Justlﬁcatlon for repetitive use..

Dol also determmed thﬁe waterboard“was legal because it was not intended to
threaten death (i.e., as in N a mock execution). Within OMS, this interpretation eventually
was controyefsial. .The fact that thousandsfo'f SERE trainees had safely undergone the
waterboard would“r%t be known to detainees, who in addition were in a hostile
environment vice training. Setting aside interrogator intent, a lengthy initial application
could hav@appeared to threaten de‘i"t‘h In theory, a detainee would have been
desensitized before this happened through applications lasting just a few seconds, which
was Agency practice. Eventually, the detainee would realize that he could handle the
longer applicationg= Additionally, most detainees quickly discerned—because of the
ongoing medical ag“ntlon—that there was no intent to seriously harm them. As a
practical matter, all this is moot since by the time questions arose the waterboard was no
longer in use. In the unlikely event that the waterboard is again considered a viable
option, the question warrants further thought.

s

ICRC report to the Agency, which DCIA Hayden then discussed with Congressional Oversight
Committees. At the time of this writing [June 2007] the Committees had ask for detailed analyses of the
intelligence obtained before and after enhanced measures were employed i.e., the question originally asked
both by OMS and the Inspector General in 2003 and 2004 :
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HVDs,'"® EITs, and OMS Guidelines

When the OMS Guidelines in preparation at the time of KSM’s interrogation were
completed, CTC/LGL requested they not be released: new DCI approval would be
required, and he had just issued his own guidelines. OMS countered that its guidance
was consistent with that of the DCI and provided a concise source of information nieceded
by OMS field personnel. CTC/LGL relented, so long as “draft” was added to the title.
The first week in April, 2003, the 9-page “Draft OMS Guidelines on Medical and
Psychological Support to Detainee Interrogations” first went to th/egﬁ\ild

This first 1ssued OMS Guidelines began with a short; ‘éstatement of the SERE
origins, DoJ sanction, and the psychological underpinnings of | the«program then
enumerated currently used interrogation techniques (“standard” anid: ~éenhanced”)

_ Reference points and limits were provided for ambléﬁt“tﬁnperatures noise levels, sleep
: ' deprivation, standing in shackles, and the use ofthe conﬁnement box. Nearly a third of

‘the text was devoted to the waterboard, beginninggwith a descnptlon whlchvg‘)‘c"p‘hcnly
underscored the difference between Agency and SERE usage~xAn estimate was given of
apparently safe levels of exposure—based on the llmﬁgd‘expenence to date—and a
requirement levied for extensive medl\cal documentatiofi® any future waterboard use.
Medical contraindications also were hsted 1nc1udmg senous‘heart or lung disease,
obstructive airway disease, and resplratory compromlse from migtbid obesity. Though
laryngospasm had not been encountered inythe SE“ﬁ‘E?programPéMS believed it to be the
most serious theoretical risk, so continued waterboard use was barred if prevmus
applications were ass ciatedei :1th any hint oﬁlmpendmg/respnratory compromise, such as
hoarseness, cough, wheezmg, stridor, or dlfﬁculty clearing the airway. Finally, a
working draft assértion, pnor to;KSM, that “it would appear that subjects cannot
maintain.. .resistance.. oke, than %few days” was replaced with the new observation that
“SERE tramersj,g‘re said to beheve that subjects are unable to maintain psychological
resistance to this techmque fortnore than a few days, but our experience suggests
othermse : ke ¢
Th"sl‘{SM interrogations were only the beginning of what proved to be the busiest
and most productwe eighteeri-months in the history of the RDG program. In a period
(b)(1) marked by the USed mva'gon of Iraq (March 2003) and major terrorist bombings in
(b)(3) NatSecAct jhdonesia (Augusm%) U terrorists came into Agency hands, including  pf
. - sufficient 1mportance‘t6 warrant extended interrogation. The experience monitoring
(0)(1) these interrogations proved instructive and other sources of information were also
(b)(3) NatSecAct explored. Detailed Ft. Bragg SERE protocols were obtained, additional conversations
were held with both Army and Navy SERE psychologists, and OMS physicians and
psychologists observed courses at both Ft. Bragg and San Diego. In San Diego, DC/MS
even underwent the waterboard.

1% Gver time High Value :I'argets (HVTs) came to be known as High Value Detainees (HVDs)
10 £ g., the Jakarta Marriott, killing 10 and wounding 150.

' (b)(1)
w(b)(m NatSecAct FHOFORN
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. Ten new RDG detainees were inten/egated between April and August 2003 with
eight subjected to enhanced measures. The EIT mainstay, post-KSM, was standing sleep
deprivation (lasting from one to four days), punctuated by sessions which routinely
included attention slaps, walling and water dousing.'” This-approach generally achieved
cooperation within a week. A few detainees were confined briefly in large and small
boxes but, as with AZ and Nashiri, this added little if anything to the process and after
September conﬁnement’ boxes no longer were used. a

In addition to cooperation, standing sleep deprivation pl;oduc the first medical
comphcatxons seen in the RDG program. Several days of stangﬁmg led to a slowly
ascending edema of the lower legs, requiring that ankle shackles be loosened. In a few
cases, the edema approached the level of the knee, in which case medlca] personnel
required the detainee be seated, with the legs elevated, allowing allewatlon of the edema
while sleep deprivation continued. Occasmnally, in addition to the edem?%a detainee
developed lower limb tenderness and erythemadﬁndmgs mmally not easﬂy
distinguishable from cellulitis or venous thrombosis. This typically was assoc1ated with
pre-existing abrasions from shackling at the time of mmal rendition. At first these cases
were treated with antibiotics or anucoagulants, but upon <be1ng seated detainee recovery
was so fast that a thrombotic or infectious phenomenon was mlec?;ut and medications
could be discontinued. T

Y S ;

There was an early concern that su}tﬁding detainees}would fall asleep and shift
excessive weight onto their armiis,but this didot become’an issue even after several days
of standing. Overwhelmmgly the detainees simply continued to stand and periodically
move around a little. Those whornodded alwaysjstartled themselves back awake. This
resilience actually depriv&dsthemn of an effectlve counter-measure, because had they
simply allowed themselves to “collapse”~the1r weight onto their arms, the standing would
have been dlscomed 105y

_ T e

Irggi'ts early years—though unknown to OMS in 2003—the Agency regarded
forced mtexrw%atlona] standiiig as dangerous. A widely-disseminated 1956 study asserted
that the resulting ;g\ema sodn led to circulatory and renal failure, and psychosis. 104

%2 Water dousing (oﬁen ing), though newly prominent among the interrogation techniques, had been
addressed in the first issued OMS Guidelines. Most ofteni water was simply splashed or hosed onto the
detainee, but in the most extreme version the detainee was made to lie down on a plastic sheet, with water
poured over him for 10-15 minutes. A psychologist and PA had to be present, and the room temperature at
least 70°. Consistent with SERE practice, doused detainees had to be dry before being placed in spaces
with ambient temperatures less than 78°. See also Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism
Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 76
' This suggestion is found in Agency commentary on detention as early as the 1950s.

“Many men can withstand the pain of long standing, but sooner or later all men succumb to the
circulatory failure it produces. After 18 to 24 hours of continuous standing, there is an accumulation of
fluid in the tissues of the legs. This dependent ‘edema’ is produced by fluid from the blood vessels. The
ankles and feet of the prisoner swell to twice their normal circumference. The edema may rise up the legs

50
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Detainees in the RDG program provided no evidence for this belief. Their
generally benign record probably is attributable to there being enough slack in the
shackling to allow a little movement and the periodic breaks occasioned by sessions
using other interrogation measures. In all cases, once allowed to sit (and sleep), their
recovery was rapid and complete.'®®

Whether standing added anything to simple sleep deprivation was a point of some
discussion. Simple sleep deprivation had not been effective durmg AZ’s first
interrogation, and later detainees at least initially all began in a standmg position. The
fatigue of standing presumably heightened the effect of the sleep depnvatlon but to what
degree remains unknown. S AN fﬁ\

\\ . ?.

OMS guidelines also increasingly addressed{l%’mee health in the post
interrogation phase. As the number of post-mterrogatlon detamees grews with no
apparent prospect of transfer elsewhere, OMS)had‘turned tathe Federal prison System for
insight into long-term prison care. In June 2003 th=e5 (b)(6) ureau of
Prisons was invited to Headquarters to discuss problems of long-term confinement, and
in mid-Julyl MS,[ MS, andEMHD (accompanied by; gwo senior RDG officers) -
visited the Administrative Maximum mﬁX) “supermax” fac1hty in Florence, Colorado,
which then held the twenty-two terrorists 1mpn§9=r’1)’ed in the Fed&"él system. The ADX
staff provided a comprehensive tour and bneﬁng that gavea good feel for the
c1rcumstances of detention, ;the medical care, provndcd and'thelr experience with terrorist
prisoners.'® OMS learficd theiteprotocols fOr. dealing with hunger strikes, medical

\a

N

as high as the middle of thmhs 'g;g;kln becomes te:g;nd intensely painful. Large blisters develop
which break and exude watery seruriy. Theoaccumulahon of the body fluid in the legs produces an
impairment of the¥rculation. The jiSart rate inceasss and fainting may occur. Eventually there is a renal
shutdown, and urine production ceases#lhe prisoner becomes thirsty, and may drink a good deal of water,
which,is not excreted, but adds to the edema of the legs. Men have been known to remain standing for
periofis as long as several days*plnmately they usually develop a delirious state, characterized by
disorientatich¥fear, delusions, and wsual‘hallucmat:ons The psychosis is produced by a combination of
circulatory 1mpa1rment lack of sleep and uremia.” “Communist Control Techniques,” 2 April 1956. This
was an OTS- sponsored QKHILLE'I‘OP study. This text appears almost verbatim in a published version of
this article, Lawrence@ﬂmkle,\h » MD and Harold G. Wolff, MD “Communist Interrogation and
Indoctrination of ‘Enemies.of the States,” Analysis of Methods Used by the Communist State Policy (A
Special Report), ” A.M.4} Afchives of Neurology and Psychiatry 76 (1956), pp. 134-135. [The published
text read, “This dependent edema is produced by the extravasation of fluid from the blood vessels.”] The
latter is verbatim from an OTR/A&E Staff paper on “Brainwashing From a Psychological Viewpoint,”
February 1956; which began with a June 1955 study that discussed standing stress positions without the
medical analysis.
105 The 1956 study said that the KGB required prisoners to stand or otherwise hold fixed positions until it
“produces excruciating pain” which the authors considered “a form of physical torture, in spite of the fact
that the prisoners and KGB officers alike do not ordinarily perceive it as such.” As noted, HVDs subjected
to standing sleep deprivation were not in a fixed position, and did not report an associated pain.

All twenty-two of these terrorists were imprisoned for activities directly tied to bombings. Atan
average age of 41, there were somewhat older than our population, and on average had been in prison for
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complaints, and routine evaluations; and how they minimized the Tisk that personal
effects such as spectacles and toothbrushes would be made into weapons.

Several revisions of the OMS Guidelines were prepared dunng the summer of
2003, culminating with a 12-page September 2003 issuance.'®’ These guidelines gave
guidance on responding to the recently noted complications and required detailed
documentation of the circumstances of standing sleep deprivation. A new sectxon was
added on “Post-Interrogation Detention,” which covered exam ﬁequency, 8 diet and
dietary supplements, height-for-weight, hunger strikes, hygiene, and examination
documentation and frequency. Previous guidance on intake examinations was codified
and expanded, e.g., to include laboratory studies such as CBC, Hepatitis B and C, HIV,
and a chemistry panel.

Five months later, in February 2004, an expanded version of “OMS Guidelines on
Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee Rlendition, Interrogation, and Detention”
(18 pages, plus a 4-page appendix)'® was issued ~A Part ILon “Psychologﬁal and
Psychiatric Support to Detainee Interrogations” (prewously dlscussed) also was
disseminated. Among other things these Guidelines nﬁa\afncluded guidance on disruptive
behavior dunng renditions (including the use—never requlred——of diazepam and
haloperidol), vision problems, dental carejand more on “hiifiger strikes and food refusal.”
A newly-added appendix succinctly outlm?d’th"”!basw for the'medical limitations on the
various mterrogatlon techniques. ’ -

;~ -v*‘ T

This issuance al’seg;:ﬂected a December 2003 change in CTC instructions, which
reduced the upper limit of “staridard” sleep deprivation from 72 hours to 48, and
“enhanced” sleep deprivation frotm 264 hours (with an 8-hour sleep break at 180 hours) to
180 hours. This change Was prompted by, the first instance of a sleep-deprived detainee
hallucmatmg-*;l1 In October, 55-year-old Wisala Khan—one the oldest detainees ever
held—began to “sée” dogs attackmg his family. Khan previously had been subjected to
penod‘s’!%f 37 and 56 houts w1thoutasleep without complications, but this hallucination
came afteonly about 21 h%m Since none of this sleep deprivation was at “enhanced”

&

just under six yea#ss In general théy were respectful toward the staff (though regularly tested the system),
but prior to transfer togElorence two-thirds had been involved in prison violence, nine had threatened prison
staff, and one was suspected of murder. About a third had made suicidal gestures; 12 had initiated hunger
strikes (5 were fed involuntarily by N-G tube). Extraordinarily modest, they for a long time refused
recreation because of the prerequisite body search, and showered wearing underpants. With the exception

. of one elderly man, they were in good physical shape, an d—rema:kably———dunng psychologlcal interviews

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

or testing showed no diagnosable pathology.

197 “Draft OMS Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee Inten'ogauons, September
4, 2003 {12 pp]

1% This formally corrected a significant deficit in medical documentatlou,\:|initia]ly had a no
local records policy. In practice this had been corrected in January 2003 through cable reporting.

109 Issued 27 February 2004.

1% The previous spring, a detainee claimed to have hallucinations, but careful psychological evaluation at

the time proved this to be feigned.
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levels, there was no on-site medical monitoring. When the hallucination was reported to-
Headquarters, further sleep deprivation was barred. Later the “standard” limit was
reduced. The change in the “enhanced” upper limit also reflected the program experience
that it had been unnecessary to keep anyone awake even as long as 180 hours. (Only -
three of some 25 detainees eventually subjected to sleep deprivation even were kept
awake over 96 hours.)

(b)(1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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7
rovading medica% psychological coverage for both new interrogations and
the growing number of widely dispersed detainees posed an increasing challenge,
especially giver‘f"thﬁggpa}'gte manpower demands in‘ (b)(1)

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

AL closureJ (b)(1 ) Lietaine% had been held there, not all at the same time:
(b)(3) NatSecAct : :
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late 2003 most physician coverage was handled by a headquarters-based physician newly
assigned near-fulltime responsibility for program support. All psychological staff
support was provided directly from Headquarters, as was most of the extensive demand
to accompany rendition flights, including inter-facility movement. (1
)(1) (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b
(0)(3) NatSeCA‘\Cf |

| However, within weeks the Supreme Court announced it woul(D)(1)
consider a case which could have mandated court access to all Guantdnamo-held (b)(3) NatSecAct
detainees.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

The spnﬁ‘? 2003 ngeﬂngs to the White House, NSC and Hill on the Agency’s
expanded use of EIT\S‘led to reassurances about the legality of and continued support for
the program, which still was generating over half the reportable intelligence on al-Qa’ida.
However, the national context changed abruptly a year later when shocking photographs

Y3 Rasul v. Bush, on 29 June 2004, reversed a District Court declsnon,]and held that the U.S. court system"
had the right to decide whether foreign nationals at Guantdnamo were rightfully imprisoned. The case had
been appealed to the Supreme Court the previous September, and the case heard on 20 April. i
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of prisoner abuse at Abu Ghraib prison in Iraq were published in April 2004.''® The
international outrage that followed prompted White House and Pentagon condemnations
of the abusive practices and investigations of detainee treatment at both Abu Ghraib and
Guantanamo Bay. The Agency, while not directly involved, again sought DoJ re-
validation. .

The request to DoJ was more reflective of caution than a desire to limit the
successful RDG program, especially in view of continuing high profile terrorist attacks.
In March 2004 the Madrid bombings killed 191 and in May the first of a series of nine
gruesome beheadings took place in Iraq. Each of the latter case§; ‘which extended until
October, followed the same gruesome pattern: a terrorist kldﬁ%pmg, followed by
impossible demands, videoed pleas from the victim; and soon théreaﬂer a beheading, the
video of which was released to the media. v

:‘,\,

About June 2004 senior al-Qa’ida operatiy ® Janat Gul was captured by I:I

(b)(3) NatseCACt ‘later transferred to mMG program prompting Agency

requests for a new ruling on several EITs. In response to, specxﬁc questions;DoJ
affirmed the legality of dietary manipulation, nudity, watér dousing, abdominal slap—all
not previously specifically addressedszand the waterboﬂln each mstance these were

_ held not to violate U.S. law, the Constltutmn, or any treaty obllgatlon 17 As previously,

-use was explicitly precondltloned on médical and psychologlcal e(fa]uatwn and the
presence of on-site medical monitoring. It was these. approva;l?/ that led to the OMS-RDG
discussions that further limited the extent of,all&Wable waterboard use (previously
discussed). Gul’s mterrogatlon—hke others%st—KSM—rehed heavily on sleep
deprivation, which for'the secondi(and final) time in the program was associated with a
hallucination. On’the\ifth day without sleep, G,ul began to hear voices. Medical
personnel intervened, and! he was all wel

At?’/the end of02@04 OMS{}ssued a new expanded version (27 pages + 7-page
appendm) of its Guidelines. Unexpécteily, this particular version of the Guidelines

. became a¥foundation of thejhext 1s§ued DoJ opinions (in May 2005) on the legality of

enhanced interrogation techniques. Among other changes, the December 2004 version
reflected a summer 2004 R?QG decision to abandon the previous distinction between
“standard” and “ephanced®¥interrogation techniques; there now was a single listing of
approvable techniquesi#Additionally, the Guidelines followed RDG in listing some
interrogation techniqués separately as “conditions of confinement.” These included such
things as diapering/nudity, shaving, white noise, and continuous light or darkness.
Exposure to “cool environments”—previously listed, but never used—was dropped

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

""" DoJ to John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, 6 August 2004; DoJ to John Rizzo, Acting General
Counsel, 26 August 2004.
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a]fogether. Other revisions incorporated the new limits on waterboard use, expanded the

- discussions of sleep deprivation and recovery, and specified immunization protocols.

The new Guidelines.also reflected some insights gained when OMS psychologists
began attending conferences of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care
(NCCHC) in the summer of 2004. These included a section on “restraint and sedation of
violent detainees”—which fortunately never had any application within the RDG setting.
Finally, new references were provided, including the Federal Bureau of Prisons website
(which had clinical practice guidelines), the NCCHC'’s regularly iggued Standards for
Health Service in Prisons, and Michael Puisis, Clinical Practicésin Correctional
Medicine (1998).

,

An issue of recurring concern was how to dea‘lgvﬁi*a detaineé;medical

emergency. ’ (b)(1 )
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118 «OMS Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee Renditions, Interrogation, and
Detention,” September 2005 [29 pp + 7 pp appendix]
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